Aus dem Medizinischen Zentrum für Pathologie der Philipps-Universität Marburg Abteilung der Neuropathologie Geschäftsführender Direktor: Professor Dr. med. H.D. Mennel

Functional Analysis of the Molecular Response to Ionising Radiation in Malignant Human Glial Tumours *in vitro*

Inaugural Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der gesamten Medizin dem Fachbereich Humanmedizin der Philipps-Universität Marburg

> vorgelegt von Alison Clova Kraus, geboren Stark aus Aberdeen, Schottland Marburg 1998

Angenommen vom Fachbereich Humanmedizin der Philipps-Universität Marburg am 19.11.98

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Fachbereichs

Dekan: Professor Dr. rer.nat. H. Schäfer

Referent: Professor Dr. med. H.D. Mennel

Korreferent: Professor Dr. med. E. Weihe

For Sigurd

page

28

CONTENTS

1.	ABBREVIATIONS	1
2.	INTRODUCTION	3
2.1	The therapeutic challenge of Glioblastoma multiforme	3
2.2	Subclassification of Glioblastoma multiforme	4
	2.2.1 The WHO classification of glial tumours	4
	2.2.2 Clinical subgroups of Glioblastoma multiforme	4
	2.2.3 Genetic subgroups of Glioblastoma multiforme	5
2.3	The p53 pathway	8
	2.3.1 Outline of the p53 pathway	8
	2.3.2 Historical perspective of p53	10
	2.3.3 The topology of p53	11
	2.3.4 Mechanisms of p53 activation	13
	2.3.5 Termination of the p53 signal	15
2.4	Cell cycle regulation	17
	2.4.1 Cell cycle checkpoints	17
	2.4.2 G1 arrest	19
	2.4.3 S phase checkpoint	22
	2.4.4 G2/M arrest	22
2.5	Apoptosis	23
	2.5.1 Caspases; the final common pathway of apoptosis	24
	2.5.2 Activation of the caspases	24
	2.5.3 Regulation of the bcl-2 family	25
	2.5.4 TRAIL and p53-mediated apoptosis	26
2.6	The need for a deeper scientific understanding	27

3. AIM OF THE PROJECT

		page
4.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
4.1	Materials	
	4.1.1 Chemicals and equipment	29
	4.1.2 Cell lines and primary cell cultures	30
	4.1.3 Buffers and solutions	30
	4.1.4 Polymerase chain reaction primers	31
	4.1.5 Antibodies	32
4.2	Methods	
	4.2.1 Cell culture	32
	4.2.2 Radiation treatment	32
	4.2.3 Extraction techniques	
	4.2.3.1 DNA extraction	33
	4.2.3.2 RNA extraction	33
	4.2.3.3 Protein extraction	33
	4.2.4 Single stranded conformation polymorphism analysis	34
	4.2.5 Western blot analysis	34
	4.2.6 Polymerase chain reactions	34
	4.2.6.1 Differential PCR for MDM2 amplification	35
	4.2.6.2 Reverse transcription-PCR	35
	4.2.6.3 Reverse transcription-PCR for mdm2 splice variants	35
	4.2.7 Electrophoresis	
	4.2.7.1 Agarose gel electrophoresis	36
	4.2.7.2 PAGE and silver staining	36
	4.2.8 Flow cytometry	36
	4.2.9 Cytotoxicity test	37
	4.2.10 Statistical analysis	37
5.	RESULTS	38
5.1	Clinical parameters	38
5.2	Cell morphology and growth characteristics	38

page

5.3	Molecular characterisation	44
	5.3.1 p53 mutational SSCP band shifts	44
	5.3.2 p53 protein expression	47
	5.3.3 MDM2 gene amplification	47
	5.3.4 mdm2 splice variants	47
5.4	The dose response to ionising irradiation	49
5.5	The response of glial tumour cell cultures to irradiation	
	5.5.1 Cell morphology	52
	5.5.2 The effect of irradiation on cell cycle checkpoints	52
	5.5.3 The effect of irradiation on p53 and its regulators	55
	5.5.3.1 mRNA expression of p53 and ATM	55
	5.5.3.2 mRNA expression of mdm2	55
	5.5.3.3 p53 protein expression	58
	5.5.4 The effect of irradiation on expression of p21 and gadd45	60
	5.5.5 Relationship between p21 and gadd45 induction and G1 arrest	63
	5.5.6 Cell viability after irradiation	69
	5.5.7 The effect of irradiation on regulators of apoptosis	
	5.5.7.1 The bcl-2 family	69
	5.5.7.2 The TRAIL pathway	72
6.	DISCUSSION	74
6.1	Apoptosis	75
	6.1.1 The bcl-2 family	76
	6.1.2 The TRAIL pathway	78
6.2	Radiosensitivity and the G1 checkpoint	78
	6.2.1 G1 arrest and apoptosis	79
	6.2.2 The significance of p21 overexpression	81
	6.2.3 The response of p21 to irradiation	82
	6.2.3.1 G1 checkpoint failure despite p21 induction	83
	6.2.3.2 Failure of the G1 checkpoint and of p21 induction	84

		page
6.3	p53 protein	85
	6.3.1 p53 protein stabilisation	85
	6.3.2 The significance of mdm2 splice variants	86
	6.3.3 Degradation of stabilised p53 protein after irradiation	89
6.4	Radiosensitivity and the G2/M checkpoint	89
6.5	Limitations to in vitro studies of glial tumours	91
6.6	The way ahead	92
7.	SUMMARY	94
8.	REFERENCES	96
9.	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS –	112
	DANKSAGUNG	

1. ABBREVIATIONS

All units of measurement are abbreviated according to the Standard International units (SI units). In the following text, genes are referred to in italic capitals and their gene products in standard small letters, with the exception of p53, where the convention of referring to both gene and gene product as "p53" is followed.

А	adenosine
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated gene
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bp	base pairs
С	cytosine
Cdk	cyclin dependent kinase
cDNA	complementary DNA
CGH	comparative genomic in situ hybridisation
CNS	central nervous system
DMEM	Dulbecco's Minimal Essential Medium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	2'-deoxynucleoside 5'-triphosphate set
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor gene
et al	and others
EtBr	ethidium bromide
FCS	foetal calf serum
G	guanosine
GADD 45	growth arrest and DNA damage inducible gene
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme
Gy	Grays
h	hours
Hepes	N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-piperazine-N'-2-ethansulphonic acid
HRP	horse radish peroxidase
kb	kilobase pairs
kD	kilodaltons

LOH	loss of heterozygosity
MDM2	murine double minute 2 gene
min	minutes
M-MLV RT	Moloney Murine Leukaemia Virus reverse transcriptase
NaCl	sodium chloride
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PMSF	phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride
Pu	purine
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
Ру	pyridamine
RB	retinoblastoma gene
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rpm	revolutions per minute
RT-PCR	reverse transcription PCR
SDS	sodiumdodecylsulphate
SSCP	single stranded conformation polymorphism
Т	thiamine
TAE	tris-acetate-EDTA
TBS	tris buffered saline
TE	tris-EDTA
TNE	tris-sodium-EDTA
tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
U	unit
UV	ultraviolet
WHO	World Health Organisation
wt	wild type

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The therapeutic challenge of Glioblastoma multiforme

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most malignant of the glial tumours, classified by the WHO as grade IV. GBM alone accounts for 15-23 % of all intracranial tumours (VandenBerg 1992). Despite so many advances in oncology in recent years, the prognosis of patients with GBM remains distressingly poor. Operative resection forms the basis of treatment but, since it is not feasible to resect effectively beyond the limits of macroscopically visible tumour without drastically compromising neurological function, improvements in operative techniques over the past twenty years have had little effect on the survival of patients with GBM. To date no chemotherapeutic regime has been shown to have significant beneficial effects.

Adjuvant radiotherapy, however, does provide a marginal improvement in the prognosis, increasing the average survival time to fourteen months (Burger and Green 1987). While this represents only an extra two to three months survival on average to the patient, it is nonetheless a benefit. The limited efficacy of radiation treatment is believed to arise from the poor apoptotic response to ionising radiation in the tumour cells (Kerr et al. 1994). Gene therapy strategies for GBM are in the experimental stage of development and, although there are good grounds for optimism, their introduction as routine treatment for GBM patients is still some way off. Thus, radiation treatment remains the main stay of adjuvant therapy in GBM.

The search for novel therapeutic strategies in GBM begs a better understanding of GBM tumorigenesis. In particular, clearer insight into the mechanisms involved in the cellular response to ionising radiation is essential, if we are to combat the radioresistant nature of these tumours.

2.2 Subclassification of Glioblastoma multiforme

2.2.1 The WHO classification of glial tumours

GBM is the most malignant form of the astrocytic glial tumours, which as a group account for more than 50% of all CNS neoplasms. According to the histopathological classification by the WHO, glial tumours are graded from grade I to IV (Kleihues et al. 1994). The grade I astrocytic tumours, which include pilocytic astrocytomas, are well circumscribed and are regarded as benign. Malignant astrocytomas, which are diffusely infitrating in character, comprise a spectrum of increasing neoplasia from grade II astrocytoma to grade III anaplastic astrocytoma to grade IV GBM, whereby cellularity and pleomorphism increase from grade II to IV. The presence of endothelial proliferation and necrosis mandates the diagnosis of grade IV GBM. The WHO grading system discloses the tendency of grade II and III astrocytomas to progress malignantly, a significant proportion ultimately attaining status as grade IV. Typical patient survival times range from more than five years for grade II astrocytomas, two to five years for anaplastic astrocytomas and approximately one year for GBMs (Kleihues and Cavanee 1997).

Mixed gliomas, bearing both astrocytic and oligodendroglial features, form an exception to the general pattern of progression from grade II through to grade IV in glial tumours. Oligoastrocytomas seldom progress further than grade III, and oligodendrogliomas only extremely rarely progress to GBM (Reifenberger et al. 1996).

2.2.2 Clinical subgroups of Glioblastoma multiforme

A distinction between different GBMs on clinical grounds has long been recognised. Approximately 60% of GBM arise *de novo*, without history of progression from a grade II or III glial tumour, and display a peak incidence in the fifth and sixth decades (Codd and Kurland 1985). In contrast, approximately 30% of GBMs show progression from astrocytoma or anaplastic astrocytoma. This clinical entity, referred to as secondary GBM, tends to occur in younger patients, with an incidence peaking in the fourth decade, and bears a slightly more favourable prognosis (Winger et al. 1989). Histologically, *de novo* and secondary GBMs cannot be distinguished from one another (Burger and Green 1987), both exhibiting tumour necrosis, vascular endothelial

proliferation and cellular atypia.

Paediatric GBMs constitute a minor subgroup, with only 4% of GBM presenting before the age of twenty years (Sure et al. 1997). Likewise, the giant cell GBM, a histological subvariant, is a rarity with circa 1% incidence (Meyer-Puttlitz et al. 1997).

2.2.3 Genetic subgroups of Glioblastoma multiforme

Genetic studies of GBM tissue have revealed a vast array of mutations, gene amplifications and chromosomal rearrangements, reflecting a pronounced genetic instability. Certain specific genetic alterations, however, occur with high frequency and have led to the tentative genetic subclassification of GBM.

Amplification of the *EGFR* gene, located at 7p13, occurs in 40-50% of GBM (Wong et al. 1987, Leenstra et al. 1994). The gene amplification, constituting an increased copy number of circa 10 to 50, invariably leads to an overexpression of the EGF receptor (Schlegel et al. 1994). Approximately a third of GBMs with *EGFR* amplification also display rearrangements of the EGF receptor, which seem to arise from errors during the amplification process. Such rearrangements result in the expression of truncated EGF receptors, which are deficient in their extracellular domain and are consequently constitutively active (Moscatello et al. 1995).

Loss of genetic material on chromosome 10 occurs in 60-85% of GBMs (Fults et al. 1990). In these GBMs cytogenetic studies demonstrate monosomy for chromosome 10 and loss of heterozygosity is observed at multiple chromosome 10 markers (Schlegel et al. 1996). GBMs with *EGFR* amplification always show loss of chromosome 10, suggesting that deletion of chromosome 10 both precedes and is a prerequisite for *EGFR* amplification (Schrock et al. 1994, von Deimling et al. 1992).

This raises the possibility that a tumour suppressor gene, of importance in the tumorigenesis of GBM with *EGFR* amplification, may be located on chromosome 10. Recently a candidate tumour suppressor gene, located at 10q23, has been identified in GBM cell lines (Li et al. 1997, Steck et al. 1997) and in 23% of GBM tumour specimens (Teng et al. 1997). Sequence analysis of this gene has revealed a protein tyrosine phosphatase domain and homolgy to the cytoskeletal protein tensin. Thus, it has been named *PTEN* (Phosphatase and Tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten), but is also referred to as *MMAC1* or *TEP1* in the literature. The functional significance of the gene product is not yet certain, although its tyrosine phosphatase activity has led

to speculation that it may oppose the signalling cascade of receptor tyrosine kinases, such as the EGF receptor. A recent study in GBMs, however, has not been able to demonstrate any association between *PTEN* deletion and *EGFR* amplification (Liu et al. 1997).

Loss of chromosome 10 and *EGFR* amplification are changes which occur predominantly in older patients exclusively in GBM, and are demonstrable in neither grade II nor grade III astrocytomas (Leenstra et al. 1994). This genetic group, therefore, seems to represent the clinical *de novo* group of GBM.

A second genetic subgroup of GBMs displays mutations in the tumour suppressor gene p53, accounting for 30-40% of GBM (Ohgaki et al. 1995, Louis 1994). Notably, amplification of the *EGFR* almost never occurs in GBMs with p53 mutations (Rasheed et al. 1994), thus creating two mutually exclusive genetic groups.

Mutation in p53 is the earliest genetic alteration detectable in glial tumours, occurring in grade II astrocytomas with an incidence equivalent to that seen in GBM (Campomenosi et al. 1996). Sidransky et al showed that subpopulations of cells in grade II and III glial tumours contained the same p53 mutation as was subsequently demonstrated after their progression to GBM, suggesting that clonal expansion of p53mutated cells occurs (Sidransky et al. 1992). These findings indicate that aberrations in p53 are critical in triggering tumorigenesis in grade II or III astrocytomas but, since the incidence of p53 mutation after progression remains unchanged, other factors contribute to their malignant progression.

Thus, the genetic subgroup of p53-mutated GBMs correlates to the clinically defined secondary GBM, which arises from malignant progression from grade II or III astrocytomas.

This system of subclassisfication, summarised in Figure 2.2.3, certainly provides an attractive model for the further study of GBM, particularly given the alliegance between clinical and genetic subgroups. However, it undoubtedly oversimplifies a more complex picture and omits approximately one third of GBMs, which exhibit neither p53 mutation nor *EGFR* amplification.

As the next section will highlight, the presence of a p53 mutation readily explains the genetic instability and radioresistance seen in secondary GBMs. *De novo* GBMs, however, are equally radioresistant (Baxendine-Jones et al. 1997), a fact not easily explicable on the grounds of their known genetic alterations. An intriguing finding,





modified from Kleihues and Cavanee 1997

however, in approximately 30% of *de novo* GBMs is an accumulation of wild type p53 protein (Anker et al. 1993, Rubio et al. 1993). Although the functional significance of this stabilised p53 protein is not understood, it raises the possibility that p53 functions abnormally in at least some *de novo* GBMs, despite the presence of an intact p53 gene. If this were the case, a functional defect in p53 or its pathway might account for the genetic instability and radioresistance of *de novo* GBMs.

The project described in this thesis investigates the hypothesis that the presence of wt p53 is not synonymous with normal p53 function in GBMs.

2.3 The p53 pathway

2.3.1 Outline of the p53 pathway

The tumour suppressor gene p53 plays a critical role in maintaining the genetic integrity of cells. p53 has been heralded as the 'guardian of the genome' because of its protective role in instigating DNA repair or apoptosis in response to genotoxic stress. A 'loss of function' mutation, leading to marked genetic instability and radioresistance, is found in more than half of human tumours (Sidransky and Hollstein 1996).

DNA damage in a cell activates wt p53 protein, which is then transported to the cell nucleus, where it becomes phosphorylated at its amino terminus and then transcriptionally activates an array of cell cycle and apoptosis regulators, including p21, gadd45, mdm2 and bax (Martinez et al. 1997), as illustrated in Figure 2.3.1.

Activation of p21 by p53 invokes cell cycle arrest in G1, via inhibition by p21 of retinoblastoma (Rb) protein phosphorylation. Activated p21 also binds and inhibits PCNA, preventing the activation of DNA polymerase δ and thus halting DNA replication. The DNA repair apparatus is activated when p53-induced gadd45 complexes to PCNA (Vairapandi et al. 1996). Transcriptional activation of mdm2 by p53 is a delayed process. By directly binding and degrading the p53 protein (Haupt et al. 1997), mdm2 serves a negative feedback loop, permitting entry of the cell into S phase once DNA repair is complete.

p53-dependent apoptosis is at least partially determined by the balance between bax and bcl-2 and other members of the bcl-2 family. Whereas bax, an inducer of

Figure 2.3.1 Ionising radiation activates p53 which induces its downstream effectors p21 and gadd45 are responsible for cell cycle arrest and DNA repair, bax induction promotes apoptosis, while mdm2 induction inhibits p53 function.



apoptosis, is transcriptionally activated by p53, the apoptosis inhibitor bcl-2 is transcriptionally repressed. The activation of p53, therefore, results in a shift towards apoptosis.

Clearly the outcome of DNA damage and p53 activation is either G1 arrest with DNA repair, or apoptosis. The mechanism by which p53 decides between these two outcomes, however, is unclear. It has been suggested that limited DNA damage leads to a transient and moderate activation of p53 and thus into the repair route, whereas considerable DNA damage results in prolonged, pronounced p53 activation and initiates apoptosis (Enoch and Norbury 1995). This would ensure that cells with irreparable DNA damage are directed into apoptosis and eliminated from the cell population.

Since cells deficient in ATM, an upstream regulator of p53, are able to undergo apoptosis but not G1 arrest and DNA repair (Meyn 1995), it is probable that ATM influences the switch into repair, but not into apoptosis. Other p53 regulators, capable of switching the cell into apoptosis, may exist but are as yet unidentified. Since misdirection into the repair pathway of cells normally bound for apoptosis is a possible tumorigenic mechanism, the elucidation of this switch mechanism is of great interest.

2.3.2 Historical perspective of p53

The cellular protein p53 was first described in 1979 when a 53kD polypeptide was observed in extracts of cells transformed by the DNA tumour virus SV40 (Lane and Crawford 1979, Linzer and Levine 1979). While this protein was barely detectable in normal cells, it was strongly expressed not only in SV40-transformed cells but also in a variety of other tumour-derived cells (DeLeo et al. 1979, Rotter et al. 1980).

On the grounds of its elevated expression in cancer cells, p53 was postulated as an oncogene. Expression plasmids encoding cloned mouse p53 were shown to exert oncogenic effects both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Eliyahu et al. 1984), seemingly clinching p53's role as an oncogene. When normal cellular p53 was cloned, however, it became clear that the protein used in early experiments was a mutant form. Furthermore, wt p53 effectively inhibited neoplastic transformation by various cellular and viral oncogenes (Eliyahu et al. 1989), thus casting grave doubts on the 'proto-oncogene' theory.

p53 became accepted as a tumour suppressor gene when it was shown to satisfy the 'two hit hypothesis', whereby a p53 mutation associates with deletion of the second p53 allele on chromosome 17 in colorectal carcinoma (Baker et al. 1989). This

hypothesis remains valid today, postulating that a first event of mutation in one allele, either hereditary or spontaneous, must be followed by the loss of the remaining wt allele before the neoplastic transformation can take place. In other words, the normal wt 'tumour suppressing' function of the gene is lost in cancer.

Ironically, the categorisation of p53 has proved more complex and the early transformation experiments supporting an oncogenic role have regained credence. While p53 predominantly functions as a tumour suppressor gene, some mutations probably also lead to a dominant negative effect on the remaining wt allele. Thus, certain p53 mutant forms do also satisfy the criteria for an oncogene.

2.3.3 The topology of p53

p53 protein is the product of a 20kb gene on the short arm of human chromosome 17. Convention in this particular case refers to both the gene, *TP53*, and the protein as 'p53', largely on the historical grounds that the protein was discovered well before the gene.

The protein comprises four functional domains as shown in Figure 2.3.3. A transcriptional activation domain resides in the acidic amino terminus (Unger et al. 1993). A DNA-binding domain, which is independently folded and contains a zinc ion, spans residues 102 to 292. This domain binds specifically to any DNA matching the concensus sequence 5'-PuPuPuC(A/T)(A/T)GPyPyPy-3' (Pavletich et al. 1993). p53 exists as a tetramer, whose spontaneous formation is dependent on the oligomerisation domain at residues 319 to 360. This segment consists of one α helix and one β strand, which assemble into primary dimers consisting of two antiparallel α helices linked by a β sheet. Helix-helix interactions lead to the formation of a tetramer from two dimers (Clore et al. 1994). The basic carboxy terminus of p53 has been shown to be alternatively spliced in normal mouse epidermal cells, and may provide a negative regulatory effect on the DNA-binding domain (Kulesz-Martin et al. 1994).

p53 acts as a transcription factor, capable of transactivating specific genes to effect growth suppression in response to genotoxic stress. Since this function is not disrupted by foreign replacement of the oligomerisation and transactivation domains (Pietenpol et al. 1994), the DNA-binding domain of p53 appears to be critical to its role as a tumour suppressor. Targets of the DNA-binding domain include promoters or

Figure 2.3.3 The p53 protein and its biological effects. p53 is a zinc-binding transcription factor which binds to a DNA sequence motif in the promotors of its specific target genes.



introns of specific genes controlling growth, as well as single stranded DNA and DNA helicases (Oberosler et al. 1993). Thus, p53 itself may be able directly to bind to and influence repair of damaged DNA, besides transcriptionally activating specific genes.

The transactivation domain complexes specifically with a number of regulatory proteins including the TATA-box binding protein TBP, CCAAT-specific transcription factor and transcription factors such as Sp-1 and WT-1. These interactions probably contribute to a global repression of many genes within a cell containing activated p53. Association between the transactivation domain and the DNA replication factor RPA inhibits the binding of RPA to single stranded DNA, which is a critical step in initiating DNA replication (Dutta et al. 1993). Such properties, however, are not essential for tumour suppression by p53.

The paramount importance of the DNA-binding domain is further emphasised by the finding that more than 90% of missense mutations in p53, including all the 'hotspots' of mutation, reside in this region (Hollstein et al. 1996). Furthermore, all reported p53 mutations in glial tumours lie within this region, which encompasses exons 5 to 8 (Kleihues and Cavanee 1997). The two most common sites of mutation are residues 248 and 273, where mutations lead to defective DNA binding and loss of p53's ability to act as a transcription factor. Another class of mutations within the DNA-binding domain disrupts the integrity of its conformational structure, inhibiting the accessibility of the region to its specific-binding DNA sequences (Cho et al. 1994). Thus, effective DNA binding and an intact conformational architecture are both fundamental to the suppression of tumours by p53.

2.3.4 Mechanisms of p53 activation

Any endangerment to the genomic integrity of the cell instigates a protective cellular response, in which p53 is pivotal. DNA damage may occur spontaneously during the normal cell cycle, may be induced by exogenous agents such as ionising radiation, UV light or genotoxic chemicals, or may result from cellular stresses such as hypoxia, which generates genotoxic free radicals. Ionising radiation, for example, produces strand breaks and base damage in the DNA. Were such defects allowed to pass through the stage of DNA synthesis and into the G2 phase of the cell cycle, the repair machinery would no longer be able to distinguish intact from aberrant DNA sequences and the damage would be incorporated into dividing cells. p53 acts to prevent this.

In a normal cell p53 protein is barely detectable as a result of its short half-life of approximately 30 minutes. DNA damage, however, causes a rapid increase in the cellular p53 concentration, with protein accumulating in the nucleus (Kastan et al. 1991). The speed of this response indicates that it occurs as a result of post-translational modification. An extension in the half-life up to 8 hours is primarily responsible for the stabilisation of p53. Increased translational efficiency of p53 mRNA may also contribute to the increased p53 levels. Although increased transcription of p53 mRNA plays no part in the immediate protein stabilisation, it may occur on prolonged genotoxic stress.

The mechanism by which damaged DNA activates p53 is not thoroughly understood and probably comprises multiple pathways. Given the ability of p53 to bind single stranded DNA with high affinity, direct activation may occur. However, DNA damage also activates signal transduction pathway(s), resulting in post-translational stabilisation of p53.

The study of cells from patients with the cancer-predisposing syndrome ataxia telangiectasia (AT) has brought some light to this question. AT cells, in which the gene *ATM* is homozygously mutated, lack G1 arrest and show impaired DNA repair in response to ionising radiation. Furthermore, these cells display significantly reduced and delayed stabilisation of p53 after irradiation (Kastan et al. 1992). These findings suggest that the gene product ATM is involved in the upstream regulation of p53 and is essential for p53-dependent G1 arrest. ATM itself is constitutively expressed in normal cells and is thought to undergo post-translational modification(s) in response to irradiation-induced genomic damage (Brown et al. 1997).

Interestingly, p53-dependent apoptosis is not blocked in irradiated AT cells, indicating that ATM is not essential for apoptosis. Similarly, while irradiation-induced p21 activation and subsequent G1 arrest were abrogated in the thymus of ATM deficient mice, the induction of bax and apoptosis was completely normal (Barlow et al. 1997). This raises the possibility that several distinct pathways exist upstream of p53, perhaps providing a regulatory switch between the option of cell cycle arrest with DNA repair and the alternative outcome of apoptosis when a cell undergoes genotoxic stress.

ATM has been shown to bear homology to phosphatidyl-3 kinase, but p53 is not subject to this phosphorylating activity (Jung et al. 1997). Recent studies have identified c-Abl tyrosine kinase as a downstream target of phosphorylation and activation by ATM kinase in the cellular response to ionising radiation (Shafman et al. 1997). Ionising

radiation has been shown to trigger a direct physical association between c-Abl and p53 (Yuan et al. 1996). However, although both events are dependent on ATM, c-Abl activation by ionising radiation appears to be independent of p53 stabilisation (Baskaran et al. 1997). p53 and c-Abl may represent two distinct targets of ATM. The signal transduction pathway connecting ATM to p53 activation is thus far from clear.

Another possible pathway of p53 activation may involve the generation of reactive oxygen species, occurring during oxidative stress. Since sulphydryl oxidation disrupts the structure and conformation of p53, its function is sensitive to the redox conditions (Hainaut and Milner 1993). Oxidative stress also leads to activation of the MAP kinase cascade. The carboxy terminus of the p53 molecule possesses sites susceptible to phosphorylation by MAP kinase. Since this region of p53 is itself capable of influencing the activity of the DNA-binding domain, phosphorylation here may represent a point of control of p53 activity.

2.3.5 Termination of the p53 signal

During embryogenesis the inhibition of apoptosis is crucial in order to maintain viability and, therefore, inhibition of p53 is essential. It has been shown using knock-out mice that mdm2 is responsible for this negative regulation of p53; the *MDM2*-null genotype results in embryonic lethality, whereas embryogenesis occurs normally when *MDM2* and p53 are simultaneously deleted (Jones et al. 1995). Thus, the p53 pathway exerts negative regulation on itself via the p53- inducible mdm2 protein, which forms a complex with p53 protein, potently inhibiting p53's ability to transactivate its specific target genes (Momand et al. 1992).

Until recently it was not understood exactly how this mechanism operated, but experimental manipulation of the structure of mdm2 has clarified this question. The mdm2 protein possesses a p53 binding domain localised to its amino terminus at codons 19 to 102, an acidic domain, a central zinc-finger motif and a carboxy terminus RING finger zinc binding motif (Chen et al. 1993). Transfection studies, using either full length mdm-2 or a truncated form deprived of its p53 binding domain, demonstrated that full length mdm2 promotes a rapid reduction in p53 protein detectable by Western blotting, without altering mRNA expression, whereas the truncated form is unable to influence p53 protein levels (Haupt et al. 1997). This suggests that the termination of the p53 signal depends on p53 protein degradation induced by mdm2 binding to the p53

protein. This is thought to be effected by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway.

The p53 binding domain of mdm2 also interacts with the E2F1 transcription factor (Martin et al. 1995) and the Rb protein (Xiao et al. 1995), stimulating the transcriptional activity of E2F1 to generate transcripts required in the S phase of the cell cycle.

In contrast to p53-inducible genes responsible for arresting the cell cycle or inducing apoptosis, whose mRNA levels rise within 2 hours of ionising radiation, induction by p53 of *MDM2* is delayed (Perry et al. 1993). This provides a time window, allowing p53 to achieve DNA repair or resort to apoptosis before mdm2 switches its signal off. Furthermore, recent evidence suggests that DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), induced directly by DNA damage, phosphorylates both p53 and mdm2, thereby inhibiting mdm2's ability to complex and degrade p53 (Shieh et al. 1997, Mayo et al. 1997). Once DNA damage is effectively repaired, DNA-PK is no longer induced, therefore releasing the inhibitory effect on mdm2 and allowing termination of the p53 signal. When the route to apoptosis is taken, mdm2 is cleaved by a caspase-3 (CPP32)-like protease (Erhardt et al. 1997, Chen et al. 1997) and subsequently cannot be detected in apoptotic cells. Thus it seems likely that degradation of mdm2 by apoptotic proteases ensures that it is unable to oppose apoptosis.

In summary, mdm2 acts in favour of cell proliferation. After a time window in which p53 checks the cell cycle and effects either DNA repair or apoptosis, mdm2 is activated by and then degrades p53, constituting a negative feedback loop. Concurrently, mdm2 stimulates the transcriptional activation of genes essential for the S phase as a result of its binding to E2F1. This allows the cell to re-enter the cell cycle and progress into S phase. Alternatively, when apoptosis is initiated, the negative regulatory effects of mdm2 are prevented by its degradation by proteasomal components of the apoptotic cascade. Therefore, one would predict that *MDM2* functions as an oncogene and, indeed, stable transfection of the amplified *MDM2* gene into normal NIH3T3 cells results in a transformed phenotype (Fakharzadeh et al. 1991).

The *MDM2* gene is amplified and overexpressed in approximately 10% of GBMs (Biernat et al. 1997), particularly in those GBMs with intact wt p53. *MDM2* amplification leads to maximal inhibition of p53's tumour suppressive effects and unleashes the pro-proliferative effects of mdm2, representing a tumorigenic mechanism by which wt p53 function is deregulated. The *MDM2* amplification seen in *de novo* GBMs cannot alone account, however, for the deregulation of p53 since it is observed in a maximal 10% of cases.

Interestingly, RT-PCR performed on a range of human tumour cells, including ovarian and bladder carcinomas, has shown that the mdm2 transcripts can be alternatively spliced (Sigalas et al. 1996). Characterisation of these splice variants revealed the partial or total absence of the p53 binding domain, disrupting not only p53 binding but also stimulation of the transcriptional activity of E2F1. Although the full length mdm2 is certainly oncogenic, whether these splice variants also have an oncogenic capacity is not certain. Sigalas et al found that the presence of splice variants correlated significantly with poor tumour differentiation and that transfection of cloned splices into NIH 3T3 cells resulted in transformation. In contrast, studies in which p53-/ Rb- human osteosarcoma (SaOS-2) cells were transfected with mdm2 and truncated forms, identified the minimum essential transforming region of mdm2 as the p53 binding domain (Dubs Poterszman et al. 1995). Thus, spliced mdm2 transcripts, which lack this binding domain, may lose their transforming potential. Furthermore, the growth advantage conferred by mdm2 in SaOS-2 cells was inhibited by the cotransfection of wt p53. This raises the interesting possibility of a reciprocal relationship between p53 and mdm2; while mdm2 is crucial in terminating the tumour suppressor's signal, p53 may inhibit the oncogenic activity of mdm2. Both of these activities are dependent on the p53 binding domain in mdm2.

2.4 Cell Cycle Regulation

2.4.1 Cell cycle checkpoints

The cell cycle was first described by the radiation biologists Howard and Pelc in 1953. They described a M phase of mitosis, when cytokinesis and chromosomal segregation were easily visualised by light microscopy. Using auto-radiographic methods, they were able to define a period of DNA synthesis, the S phase. The period between M and S phases they termed G1, the first gap phase, and that between S and M, G2, the second gap phase. The majority of differentiated mammalian cells, however, exist in a quiescent state, G0, and re-enter G1 only when undergoing proliferation.

The fundamental task of the cell cycle is to ensure that DNA is faithfully duplicated during S phase and that two identical sets of chromosomes are divided into two daughter cells during M phase. Any threat to the integrity of the genetic information

must be countered before replication and mitosis proceed, since replication renders mutations unrecognisable and thus irreparable, and mitosis in the presence of unrepaired strand breaks can lead to gross chromosomal aberrations in the daughter nuclei.

Cell insults causing DNA damage may be extrinsic, such as irradiation or chemical mutagens, or of intrinsic origin, for example oxidative stress. In general, the DNA damage constitutes either a modification of the nitrogenous bases or of the phosphodiester backbone. The cell possesses a complex repair machinery capable of restoring the DNA to its intact state. Lesions to the bases are removed by excision repair pathways, and the resultant 'excision gap' is filled in by a repair polymerase and ligated. Breakage of phosphodiester bonds results in nicks or double stranded breaks in the DNA. These broken DNA ends are highly recombinogenic and are necessarily repaired by nonhomologous end joining or the addition of new telomeres (Paulovich et al. 1997). The damage evoked by gamma irradiation occurs predominantly in the form of double stranded DNA breaks (Lu and Lane 1993).

Clearly, if the cell is to avoid permitting the perpetuation of mutations and chromosomal aberrations, the effective repair of DNA damage is of utmost importance. In order to afford sufficient time for repair, however, a delay in the progression of the cell cycle is essential. To this end, multiple 'checkpoints' exist, capable of detecting DNA damage and halting the progression of the cell cycle. The DNA damage checkpoints operate at three stages of the cell cycle, one at the G1/S transition referred to as G1 arrest, one that monitors progression through S phase and one at the G2/M boundary. The positioning of these checkpoints immediately before and during the vulnerable S and M phases prevents the cell from either replicating damaged DNA templates, or erroneously segregating chromosomes.

The consequences of checkpoint failure are clearly grave and it is no surprise that defective checkpoints play a significant role in tumorigenesis. The following section will describe in some detail the important components of the cell cycle checkpoints. In particular the response to gamma irradiation, which triggers arrest at all three checkpoints (Elledge 1996), will be discussed.

2.4.2 G1 Arrest

As discussed previously, the tumour suppressor gene p53 has been shown to play a pivotal role in bringing about an arrest at the G1/S transition (Kastan et al. 1991, Yount, et al. 1996). Activation of p53 by DNA damage, mediated at least in part by ATM, leads to the transcriptional activation of p21, an inhibitor of the cyclin dependent kinases (Cdk).

The Cdk family is regarded as the 'engine of the cell cycle', responsible for driving the cell through the various phases of the cycle when bound to its respective cyclin. p21 specifically inhibits the kinase activity of the Cdk2/cyclinE and Cdk4/cyclin D complexes which are consequently prevented from phosphorylating their substrate, the Rb protein (Dulic et al. 1994). As illustrated in Figure 2.4, in its hypophosphorylated state Rb binds the E2F family of transcription factors, thus preventing their transcription of multiple genes essential for the passage into S phase. Only once Rb is phosphorylated is E2F released and capable of initiating transcription of these genes.

Since G1 arrest can be induced by the overexpression of p21 (el-Deiry et al. 1993) and, furthermore, is abrogated in irradiated p21-deficient cells (Brugarolas et al. 1995), p21 seems to be the key effector of the G1 arrest in response to DNA damage. However, the question of whether p21 can be induced independently of p53 is not fully answered. While some groups show that p21 is solely dependent on p53 for its induction, for example in human peripheral neuroepithelial tumour cell lines (Isaacs et al. 1997), other groups maintain that p21 can be induced independently of p53. For example p21 is induced under conditions of oxidative stress in p53-null SaOS-2 cells (Russo et al. 1995) but whether this can effect a G1 arrest remains unanswered. To date all evidence suggests that G1 arrest and induction of p21 after irradiation are both strictly dependent on the presence of wild type p53 (el-Deiry et al. 1994).

In response to stimuli other than DNA damage, additional gene products do influence the G1/S checkpoint. p16 and p15, members of the INK4 family which also includes p19^{ARF}, have an <u>in</u>hibitory effect on Cd<u>k4</u> and Cdk6, whose kinase activity is induced in response to growth factor stimulation during G1 (Sherr 1994). Although p15 has been shown to be induced by transforming growth factor (TGF) ß, resulting in growth inhibition (Hannon and Beach 1994), the mechanism of regulation of the

Figure 2.4 Phase G1 of the cell cycle provides a target for mutations in GBM. The diagram illustrates the proteins essential for passage through the cell cycle. Those shown in circles are accelerators through the checkpoints and those in squares are inhibitors of cell cycle progression.



modified from Hunter and Pines 1994

INK4 family is far from clear. It does not, however, appear to be directly related to the response to DNA damage.

Genetic alterations in some of these regulatory components of the G1 checkpoint are observed in GBMs. A deletion of *RB* occurs in approximately 30% of GBMs, but is not observed in grade II or III astrocytomas. Furthermore, *RB* deletion is found in both 2° and *de novo* GBMs, not associating exclusively with one or the other group (Henson et al. 1994). The observation that *RB* is deleted in secondary GBMs, but not in grade II or III tumours suggests that changes in Rb function are critical in progression to GBM in this group.

An amplification of *CDK4* occurs in approximately 3% of GBMs, resulting in facilitated progression into S phase (He et al. 1994). Since both *CDK4* and *MDM2* are located at the chromosome site 12q13, *CDK4* amplification may purely be a spin off from the more frequent occurrence of *MDM2* amplification. While both events have the effect of deregulating the control of G1 arrest by p53, overexpressed mdm2 may well have additional consequences on p53-mediated apoptosis. As previously mentioned, however, this still only accounts for 10% of GBMs, leaving the mechanism of radioresistance in the vast majority of *de novo* GBMs unexplained.

Complementary to deletions in *RB* in GBM, genetic changes in the *INK4* genes are also observed. p16, p15 and $p19^{ARF}$ reside in chromosome 9p, which has been shown to be homozygously deleted in approximately one-half of GBMs (Schlegel et al. 1996). This is mirrored by a loss of p16 in 57% of GBMs (Ueki et al. 1996). It has been recently shown that loss of p16 function associates with *EGFR* amplification in *de novo* GBMs (Biernat et al. 1997). It is not clear, however, how such a regulatory defect would hinder G1 arrest in response to irradiation, since p16 inhibits CDK activity in parallel to p21 and is not thought to constitute part of the response pathway to DNA damage. Furthermore, it is not clear why GBM cells with loss of p16 function are not eliminated by apoptosis. This suggests that, besides disruption of cell cycle regulators such as p16 and Rb, an obstacle to apoptosis coexists in *de novo* GBMs.

Interestingly, p21 is never found to be mutated in GBMs, a finding common to all tumour types (Koopmann et al. 1995). Why this should be is unclear; perhaps loss of p21 function proves fatal to the cell?

2.4.3 S phase checkpoint

The S phase checkpoint is rather less well defined than the other two checkpoints and relatively little is reported in the literature regarding its control. It is responsible, however, for a rapid reduction of circa 50% in DNA synthesis immediately following irradiation (Larner et al. 1994).

It is clear that cyclin A function is required for progression through the S phase. Cyclin A associates with and activates Cdk2 during the later stages of S phase. The kinase activity of Cdk2 during S phase appears to be able to inhibit E2F, thus switching off the synthesis of the array of gene products required for DNA synthesis (Hunter and Pines 1994) and presumably permitting entry into G2.

The mechanism by which cyclin A may be inhibited to allow a checkpoint in S phase is undetermined. Intriguingly, a deregulation of cyclin A synthesis may be involved in the anchorage-independent growth seen in transformed cells, since fibroblasts expressing increased levels of cyclin A gain the capacity to grow in suspension (Guadagno et al. 1993). This suggests that cell surface adhesion molecules may normally exert some control over the S phase checkpoint.

Although gamma irradiation certainly does result in an arrest at the S checkpoint, the signal transduction pathway from DNA damage to S phase arrest is not known. There is, however, definitive evidence in fibroblasts, treated with bleomycin to induce DNA strand breaks, that neither p53 nor p21 influence arrest in S phase, since unimpaired S arrest persisted despite stable expression of mutant p53 with abrogated p21 response in the cells (Wyllie et al. 1996).

2.4.4 G2/M Arrest

A model for the mechanism of the G2/M checkpoint has recently been suggested on the grounds of studies in yeast, mouse and human cells (Weinert 1997, Furnari et al. 1997, Peng et al. 1997, Sanchez et al. 1997). G2 arrest is caused by inhibitory phosphorylation of Cdc2, a prominent member of the Cdk family. These recent studies indicate that Cdc2 phosphorylation results from upstream inactivation of Cdc25, the prime activator of Cdc2. The model proposes that, on detection of DNA damage, activated ATM phosphorylates the protein kinase Chk1, which in turn phosphorylates Cdc25 at its serine residue at position 216. This results in promoted binding of Cdc25 to

its sequestering protein, thus preventing dephosphorylation and activation of Cdc2 by Cdc25. Mitosis is not permissible in the presence of inactive phosphorylated Cdc2 and so the cell arrests at the boundary between G2 and M phases.

Since human cells bearing a non-phosphorylatable Cdc2 are only partially defective in G2 arrest (Jin et al. 1996), other mechanisms of control over this checkpoint probably exist. In particular, conflicting reports abound as to whether p53 exerts any regulation at the G2/M checkpoint.

G2/M arrest certainly occurs independently of p53 and p21, since irradiation of p53-null or p21-null cells successfully induces this checkpoint (Kastan et al. 1991, Waldman et al. 1996), presumably by the ATM-Chk1-Cdc25-Cdc2 pathway. Given that activation of ATM by DNA damage, however, activates p53 as well as Chk1, the question of whether p53 can influence the G2/M checkpoint remains open. For example the generation of tetraploidy and octaploidy, which is indicative of defective mitosis, has been observed in mouse fibroblasts deficient in p53, suggesting that p53 does at least have a role in monitoring M phase (Cross et al. 1995).

2.5 Apoptosis

It is now generally accepted that growth arrest alone is not sufficient for cancer therapy to be effective, since at some stage arrested cells will re-enter the replicative cycle. Instead, tumour cells must actually be eliminated by a treatment such as irradiation. The cure rate, for example, of murine tumours *in vivo* can be predicted by the apoptotic response of the tumour cells (Stephens et al. 1991). Clearly, apoptosis is central to the issue of radiosensitivity and, therefore, needs to be considered in some detail.

Apoptosis is a genetically encoded energy-dependent cell death programme, defined morphologically by contraction of the cytoplasm, plasma membrane blebbing, chromatin condensation and internucleosomal DNA cleavage (Wyllie et al. 1980). Apoptosis constitutes the common end-point of numerous different signal transduction pathways, whose relative importance depends on the cell type and triggering signal for apoptosis. The apoptotic response to DNA damage, however, appears to be critically dependent on p53 function, since thymocytes from p53 knock-out mice fail to enter apoptosis when irradiated (Lowe et al. 1993). Although there have been some

suggestions that a p53-independent route operates to initiate apoptosis following insults such as irradiation (Strasser et al. 1994), this is yet to be substantiated.

2.5.1 Caspases; the final common pathway of apoptosis

Much of our understanding regarding the mechanisms of apoptosis originates from studies on the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Ellis et al. 1991), in which the genetic programme leading to cell death has been fully elucidated. The gene products operating in *C. elegans* to effect apoptosis are highly conserved and are now facilitating identification of human homologues, including for example the caspase family.

Caspases are the 'executioners' of apoptosis, responsible for the dismantling of the cell machinery. They constitute the final common pathway of apoptosis, on which the various initiating signals converge . The caspases are cysteine proteases with aspartate specificity, and operate in a cascade which incorporates a degree of redundancy (Li et al. 1995). Ten caspases have been identified to date, grouping into three sub-families referred to as the caspase-1 (the interleukin-18-converting enzyme (ICE) proteases), caspase –2 and caspase-3 (also known as CPP-32) subfamilies (Nagata 1997). Activated through a proteolytic processing, they cleave specific apoptotic substrates, leading to the characteristic changes. For example, activated caspase-3 digests the inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase, ICAD, resulting in the freedom of the endonuclease, CAD, to cleave chromatin (Sakahira et al. 1998, Enari et al. 1998). This it does at internucleosomal sites, yielding the DNA fragments of regular size that constitute the pathognomic apoptotic 'DNA ladder'.

2.5.2 Activation of the caspases

A key molecule in effecting activation of the caspases is cytochrome c. The release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria and its relocation in the cytosol is followed by caspase activation and committment of the cell to apoptosis (Reed 1997). bax, a pro-apoptotic member of the bcl-2 family, has been shown to induce cytochrome c release from the mitochondria (Rosse et al. 1998). Conversely, escape of cytochrome c from the mitochondria is prevented by overexpression of the pro-survival members of the bcl-2 family, resulting in suppression of apoptosis (Yang et al. 1997, Kluck et al. 1997).

A number of bcl-2 family members, which reside predominantly in the outer mitochondrial membrane, have been identified in humans (Krajewski et al. 1993). While bcl-2 and bcl- X_L oppose apoptosis, bax, bcl- X_S , bik, bak and bad promote apoptosis (Boise et al. 1993). The various members of the bcl-2 family are capable of dimerising with one another (Oltvai et al. 1993). The affinity between pro- and antiapoptotic members is greater, however, than that between those of the same group (Sattler et al. 1997). Since dimerisation between functionally diametric members neutralises their effects on apoptosis, the ratio between inhibitors and promoters of apoptosis in a cell modulates its sensitivity to apoptosis . For example, embryonal death occurs in mice deficient in bcl- X_L as a result of a shift in the balance towards apoptosis (Motoyama et al. 1995). Conversely, the apoptotic response to chemotherapeutic agents is severely impaired in bax-deficient fibroblasts (McCurrach et al. 1997) and is reduced by 50% *in vivo* in bax-deficient mice (Yin et al. 1997).

Thus, altering the balance between pro- and anti- apoptotic members of the bcl-2 family controls committment to apoptosis. This is achieved by determining the sub-cellular localisation of cytochrome c, although the mechanism by which it occurs is not known. Since the bcl-2 family of proteins can form membrane channels *in vitro*, they may participate in regulating mitochondrial permeability to cytochrome c (Reed 1997, Minn et al. 1997).

2.5.3 Regulation of the bcl-2 family

Returning to the issue of DNA damage, how does p53 initiate apoptosis? Although this question is hotly debated, the control exerted by p53 over the transcription of the bcl-2 family probably forms at least part of the link between DNA damage and activation of the caspases. Sequence-specific binding sites for p53 have been identified in the bax promoter (Miyashita and Reed 1995), while transcription of both bcl-2 and bcl- X_L is repressed by active p53. Thus, activation of p53 by DNA damage leads to increased expression of pro-apoptotic proteins and concurrent reduction in anti-apoptotic proteins, resulting in a dramatic shift of their ratio in the favour of apoptosis.

A number of studies have indicated, however, that additional mechanisms contribute to the orchestration of apoptosis by p53. Even when the transcriptional activation of p53-inducible genes is blocked, p53-dependent apoptosis can still occur

(Haupt et al. 1995, Caelles et al. 1994). In this scenario apoptosis requires the presence of very high levels of p53 protein. This suggests that p53-mediated apoptosis relies not only on specific transcriptional activation but also biochemical properties of p53 protein itself.

The nature of this alternative mechanism(s) is unclear. The carboxy terminus of the p53 protein appears to interact with certain components of the DNA repair machinery, including DNA helicases (Oberosler et al. 1993), and p53 is even speculated to bind directly at sites of DNA damage. A coupling between certain types of DNA damage and p53 perhaps generates conformational or biochemical changes in the p53 protein, which provide a means of switching the cell into the apoptotic route.

A further level of control over the bcl-2 family is provided by phosphorylation. The ability of bad to bind and inhibit bcl- X_L is lost when bad is phosphorylated, thus allowing bcl- X_L freedom to promote cell survival (Zha et al. 1996). Whether p53 influences phosphorylation of the bcl-2 family is not known.

2.5.4 TRAIL and p53-mediated apoptosis

The **T**NF **r**elated **a**poptosis-**i**nducing ligand TRAIL is a member of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) family of death-inducing ligands, whose binding to specific cell surface receptors, including DR5 and DR4, rapidly induces apoptosis (Sheridan et al. 1997, Pan et al. 1997). Intriguingly, tumour cells are far more susceptible to the death signal from TRAIL than normal cells, a fact explained recently by the identification of a 'decoy' receptor for TRAIL (Sheridan et al. 1997). Expression of the 'decoy' receptor, named TRID (**T**RAIL **r**eceptor without an **i**ntracellular **d**omain), is apparently restricted to normal tissues, since it has not been detected in a single tumour cell line so far investigated (Pan et al. 1997). Although the TRID protein contains the external TRAILbinding region and a stretch of anchoring amino acids, it lacks the intracellular domain essential for initiating the signal leading to caspase activation.

Until recently this apoptotic pathway was regarded as being independent of the response to DNA damage, but another experimental approach has now demonstrated a link to p53. Screening of p53-dependent DNA damage-inducible genes has revealed the gene *KILLER*, named to reflect its role in apoptosis, which turns out to be identical to *DR5* (Wu et al. 1997). DNA damage induces KILLER/DR5 in a p53-dependent manner, a response which was abrogated in tumour cells bearing mutant p53. It is still unclear

whether this effect is direct or mediated by the transactivation activity of p53.

Thus, p53 appears to be able to influence the TRAIL pathway to apoptosis through its effects on KILLER/DR5. This, in addition to a speculative simultaneous inhibition by p53 of TRID, provides an attractive hypothesis for how wt p53 might try to maximise apoptosis in tumour cells. It remains to be answered whether p53-mediated apoptosis is functionally dependent on induction of KILLER or whether it operates in parallel with other p53-mediated apoptotic controls, such as the bcl-2 family.

2.6 The need for a deeper scientific understanding

The overview provided here hopefully shows that, while much has been learnt in recent years, the molecular mechanisms by which tumour cells evade apoptosis are unclear. GBM is one of the most malignant tumours to affect humans and, therefore, merits intensive study. The proven beneficial effect offered to GBM patients by adjuvant radiotherapy is encouraging but limited. The therapeutic challenge is to find ways of improving the radiosensitivity of GBMs, but only by extending our scientific understanding of the molecular mechanisms leading to radioresistance in GBMs, can we hope to fulfil this aim.

3. AIM OF THE PROJECT

A clearer understanding of the cellular mechanisms involved in the response to ionising radiation is pivotal to the development of new therapeutic strategies for GBM. In order to gain further insight into dynamic functional aspects of cell cycle regulation and the control of apoptosis, this project aims to investigate the molecular changes induced by ionising radiation in molecularly characterised primary cell cultures from both *de novo* and secondary GBMs.

While p53 mutation accounts for the genetic instability and radioresistance seen in secondary GBM, current understanding of the genetic alterations occurring in *de novo* GBM does not account for their equally pronounced genetic instability and radioresistance. In the absence of p53 mutation, these features are indicative of defective functioning of the p53 pathway. Functional comparison of the radiation responses in secondary GBMs and *de novo* GBMs *in vitro* aims to reveal defects in the regulatory pathways controlling the cell cycle and apoptosis in *de novo* GBMs, and thus identify putative radioresistance mechanisms.

This project will investigate changes in expression of p53, its upstream regulator ATM, downstream effectors of cell cycle arrest, p21 and gadd45, apoptosis regulators, including the bcl-2 family and the TRAIL pathway and finally, the inhibitor of p53, mdm2, occuring after irradiation of asynchronous primary cultures.

Since understanding of this pathway remains rudimentary, insights into general functional aspects of the cellular response to genotoxic stress may be gained from this model system.

Aim

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Materials

4.1.1 Chemicals and equipment

All chemicals originated from Boehringer Ingelheim Bioproducts, Ingelheim, Germany, unless otherwise stated. Sterile plastic ware for cell culture was obtained from Falcon, New Jersey, NJ, USA. All medium (DMEM and RPMI), FCS, trypsin, glutamine, penicillin and streptomycin originated from Gibco-BRL, Karlsruhe, Germany. Taq DNA polymerase and RNeasy RNA isolation kits were supplied by Qiagen, Hilden, Germany. Takara Ex Taq DNA polymerase, used for the nested polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification of mdm2 splice variants was obtained from Takara Biomedicals, Shiga, Japan. Random hexanucleotide primers, Moloney Murine Leukaemia Virus (M-MLV) reverse transcriptase, 2'-deoxynucleoside 5'-triphosphate (dNTPs) set, DNA and protein size markers came from Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany. Agarose originated from Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany. All reagents for Bradford protein assays were obtained from Biorad, München, Germany. X-ray film X-AR was supplied by Eastman Kodak, Rochester, USA. Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) Immobilon membranes for Western blots were supplied by Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA. Mutation detection enhancement (MDE) gel concentrate for use in SSCP analysis was supplied by J.T. Baker Inc., Phillipsburg, NJ, USA. The cytotoxicity test "Cell Titer 96TM Non-radioactive Cell Proliferation Assay" was obtained from Promega, Madison, WI, USA. Direct DNA sequencing was performed by Seq Lab, Göttingen, Germany.

The following pieces of equipment were used;

Cells were cultured in a Stericult 200 incubator. PCR reactions were performed in a PTC-100 thermocycler from MJ Research Inc., Watertown, Mass., USA. Gel electrophoresis chambers from Biorad, Hercules, CA,USA and power units from

Pharmacia LKB, Freiburg, Germany were used.
4.1.2 Cell lines and primary cell cultures

The human glioblastoma cell lines LN 229, LN 18 and LN Z308 were kind gifts from Dr. E. van Meir, Lausanne, Switzerland (Van Meir et al. 1994). They have well defined p53 status and were used in this project as controls. LN 229 bears wt p53. LN 18 carries an heterozygous dominant negative point mutation in codon 238 of exon 7, whereby TGT is replaced by TCT, resulting in a serine instead of a cysteine residue. LN Z308 bears a rearrangement in p53, such that a small amount of a truncated p53 RNA transcript but no p53 protein is expressed.

Primary cell cultures were established from a total of twenty one human glial tumours and from normal fibroblasts by K. Münkel and Dr. B. Eifert, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Heidelberg, Germany. The selected tumours included one grade II astrocytoma, one grade II oligoastrocytoma, one grade III astrocytoma, one grade III oligoastrocytoma, six secondary GBMs and eleven *de novo* GBMs. The mean patient age was 51.7 years (range 28-75 years) and 62% of the patient group were male. The primary cultures of fibroblasts, being non-neoplastic cells which form an adherent monolayer *in vitro*, provided a normal control in irradiation experiments.

4.1.3 Buffers and solutions

The following standard buffers were used :

TE (pH 8.0) :	10mM tris (pH 8.0), 1mM EDTA (pH 8.0)
TAE (pH 8.0) :	40mM tris-acetate, 2mM EDTA (pH 8.5)
TBE :	89mM tris, 89mM boric acid, 0.2mM EDTA
TNE :	50mM tris-Cl, 140mM NaCl, 5mM EDTA
PBS (pH 7.4):	137mM NaCl, 2.7mM Kcl, 4.3mM Na ₂ HPO ₄ , 1.4mM KH ₂ PO ₄
loading buffer :	95% formamide, 10mM NaOH, 0.05% bromphenol blue,
	0.05% xylene cyanol
triton X-100	50mM tris-Cl, 5mM EDTA, 1% triton X-100, 150mM NaCl,
lysis buffer :	1mM PMSF, 80ng/ml apoprotein, 50ng/ml leupeptin,
	4ng/ml pepstatin

4.1.4 Polymerase chain reaction primers

The oligonucleotides listed below were used in PCR at the specified annealing temperatures. All primers were synthesised by MWG-Biotech, Ebersberg, Germany.

Primer	Locus	Product	Annealing	Forward primer sequence		
name		length	temp.	Reverse primer sequence		
		(basepair)	(°Ĉ)	· ·		
1. ATM		210	52	AGAGCCAAAGAGGAAATAGG		
nAIM	AIM	218	55	AAGCCAGAGGGAACAAAG		
hp53	p53	83	48	GCTTTGAGGTGCGTGTT		
-	-			GTGAGGCTCCCCTTTCT		
hp21	p21	285	52	GCAGTGTGTCGGGTGAAG		
-	•			CTCAGCAAGCAACGAAGTG		
hgd45	GADD45	162	50	CAAGTGACAGCCCGATTAT		
C				TTGTTACCCTGACCTGAGTG		
hbax	BAX	132	49	GATGCGTCCACCAAGAAGC		
				TGCCACTCGGAAAAAGACC		
hbcl-2	BCL-2	174	53	CACCAAGAAAGCAGGAAAC		
				CAGGATAGCAGCACAGGA		
hbcl-x	BCL-XL	245	58	CCCCAGGGACAGCATA		
				CCCATAGAGTTCCACAAAAGT		
hTRAIL	TRAIL	232	52	TGAGGAATGGTGAACTGGT		
				CCCCCTTGATAGATGGAA		
hKILLER	KILLER	218	52	GCACCACGACCAGAAAC		
				AAACACAGCCACAATCAAGA		
hTRID	TRID	151	54	TGTGCTTCTGATTGTGTTTG		
				GCGTTTCTGTCTGTGGG		
hMDM2	MDM2	143	55	GAGGGCTTTGATGTTCCTGA		
				GCTACTAGAAGTTGATGGC		
hDRD	dopamine	113	55	CCACTGAATCTGTCCTGGTATG		
	receptor			GTGTGGCATAGTAGTTGTAGTGG		
hmdm2ex	MDM2	1573	55	CTGGGGAGTCTTGAGGGACC		
	(external)			CAGGTTGTCTAAATTCCTAG		
hmdm2in	MDM2	various	55	CGCGAAAACCCCGGGCAGGCAAATGTGCA		
	(internal)			CTCTTATAGACAGGTCAACTAG		
hPTEN	PTEN	352	52	AAGACCATAACCCACCACA		
				CCACTGAACATTGGTATAGTTT		
hßglob	ß globin	500	59	GGTTGGCCAATCTACTCCCAGG		
8			•••	GCTCACTCAGTGTGGCAAAG		
D7S8	EGFR	120	58	GGAATGCAACTTCCCAAAATGTGCC		
				ACAGCCATGCCCGCATTGGCTCTAA		
D7S12	ß actin	180	61	CTTGATGAGGTAGTCAGTCAGGTCC		
				TATCCAGGCTGTGCTATCCCTGTAC		
p3/4	p53	183	60	CTTTCAACTCTGTCTCCTTCCTACAGTACT		
1	exon 5			GTCGTCTCTCCAGCCCCAGCTGCTCACCATCGCTAT		
p13/14	p53	112	60	TTGCCCAGGGTCCCCAGGCCTCTGATTCCTCACTGA		
1	exon 6			ACTGCTCACCCGGAGGGCCACTGACAACCACCCTTA		
p5/6	p53	109	60	CCTCATCTTGGGCCTGTGTTATCTCCTAGGTTGGCT		
r ~	exon 7	- • • •	~ ~	CCAGTGTGCAGGGTGGCAAGTGGCTCCTGACCTGGA		
p7/8	p53	136	60	CTCTTGCTTCTCTTTTCCTATCCTGAGTAGTGGTAA		
r	exon 8			CCTCCACCGCTTCTTGTCCTGCTTGCTTGCTTGCTCGCT		

4.1.5 Antibodies

A polyclonal rabbit anti-p53 antibody and an horse radish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated anti-rabbit antibody, supplied by Innovative Diagnostik Systeme, Hamburg, Germany, were used in Western blotting.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Cell culture

Cell lines LN 229, LN 18 and LN Z308 were cultured as monolayers in DMEM with 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, penicillin (100U/ml) and streptomycin (100 μ g/ml). All primary cell cultures were maintained as monolayers in RPMI, supplemented as described above. Cells were grown at 37°C in 5% CO₂. The passaging time, defined below, for each of the primary cultures and the cell lines was estimated as an indication of rate of cell growth. Where the cultures were beyond their first passage, the passaging time was defined by the number of days in culture between seeding the cells to 30% confluence and their attainment of 80% confluence. At this point in time the primary cultures were sub-cultivated.

4.2.2 Radiation treatment

Irradiation of cells was kindly performed in the Department of Radiotherapy, University of Marburg (Director: Prof. Dr. med. R Engenhart-Cabillic). Each of the cultures established from patient tumour material was subjected to irradiation within the first four passages of cell culture. Standard cell conditions were maintained by performing a medium change 24h before treatment and irradiating at a set time to avoid the effects of diurnal variation. Proliferating cells in 6cm petri dishes containing 3ml medium were γ irradiated using a cobalt ⁶⁰Co source (1.3 MeV) at a calibrated radiation dose of 1.470 Gy/min. Dosimetry was fully calibrated before commencing the experimental protocol. A dose response curve was performed on fibroblasts, LN 229 and LN 18 at measurement points from 1 to 12 Gy. On the grounds of these results, 10 Gy were chosen as the experimental dose in this study.

From non-radiated controls and radiated cells at time 2h and 8h after irradiation, RNA and protein were extracted (see below). At 24h after irradiation, irradiated and non-radiated control cells were fixed in 70% methanol for flow cytometry analysis of the cell cycle status and were subjected to a cytotoxicity test.

4.2.3 Extraction techniques

4.2.3.1 DNA extraction

DNA extraction was performed according to standard protocol (Sambrook et al. 1989). Briefly, after washing confluent cells twice in PBS, 3ml TNE were applied to the cells. After a 10 min incubation at room temperature, a cell scraper was used to mechanically dislodge the cells. Incubation with Proteinase K (100μ g/ml) and 0.5% SDS at 56°C overnight led to nuclear lysis. Finally DNA was purified in a phenol-chloroform-isoamylalcohol solution (25:24:1) and precipitated in ice-cold ethanol. DNA was dissolved in TE and stored at 4°C.

4.2.3.2 RNA extraction

RNA was extracted from cells using a RNeasy kit, according to the supplier's protocol. Cell material was lysed under highly denaturing conditions to inactivate RNases and diluted in a high salt buffer system. The sample was applied to a spin column containing a silica gel-based membrane, which bound total RNA during the subsequent washes. RNA was eluted in RNase-free water.

4.2.3.3 Protein extraction

According to standard protocol (Sambrook et al. 1989), after two washes in cold PBS the proliferating cells were incubated for 10 min on ice in triton X-100 lysis buffer. Cell debris was removed by centrifugation (10000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C) and the supernatent was stored at -80°C.

4.2.4 Single stranded conformation polymorphism analysis

100ng of genomic DNA was used for PCR in a 50µl reaction volume containing 0.3µM primer, 10mM Tris-Cl, 75mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 200µM each dNTP, 0.025µCi ³³PdCTP and 1U *Taq* DNA polymerase with primers for exons 5 to 8 of the p53 gene, as listed. The PCR programme ran at 94°C for 5 min, 60°C for 3 min and 72°C for 3 min for 1 cycle, followed by 30 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, 60°C for 1 min and 72°C for 2 min. 8µl of the amplification product was added to 20µl of loading buffer and heated at 94°C for 5 min. The denatured DNA was then separated on a 0.5 x Mutation Detection Enhancement (MDE) gel at 4°C, 2 Watts overnight. Gels were dried and exposed to X-ray film for 24 h.

4.2.5 Western blot analysis

Protein concentration was measured according to the Bradford protocol (Sambrook et al. 1989). 10µg of protein was loaded onto a 10% polyacrylamide/SDS gel and electrophoresed at 110V constant voltage. Proteins were transferred to a PVDF Immobilon membrane at 200mA for 90 min. The membrane was blocked for 1 hour by 5% skimmed milk powder in TTBS and incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit polyclonal anti-p53 antibody diluted 1:1000 in TTBS. The membrane was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with an HRP-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG antibody diluted 1:2000, before incubation for 60 sec with Lumiglo Reagent (20 x concentrate). The membrane was then wrapped in clingfilm and exposed to an X-OMAT MA-film. Expression of p53 protein was analysed according to a semi-quantitative scale, whereby zero protein detection was scored as '0', modest protein detection as '++, marked protein expression as '+++'.

4.2.6 Polymerase chain reactions

PCR was performed using 200ng DNA in a 50µl reaction volume containing 0.3μ M primer, 10mM Tris-Cl, 75mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 200µM each dNTP and 1U *Taq* DNA polymerase. The reaction mixture was heated at 95°C for 5 min to denature the DNA and then subjected to 35 cycles of PCR (94°C for 1 min, specific annealing temperature for 1 min, 72°C for 2 min) followed by a final extension at 72°C for 5 min.

Protocols differing from this standard protocol are described below.

4.2.6.1 Differential polymerase chain reaction for *MDM2* amplification

200ng of genomic DNA was amplified in a differential PCR reaction of 25μ l volume, containing 10mM Tris-HCl, 75mM Kcl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 200µM dNTPs, 0.5µM primers for both *MDM2* and the reference dopamine receptor gene, *DRD2*, together with 1U *Taq* DNA polymerase, as previously described (Biernat et al. 1997). DNA denaturation at 95°C for 5 min was followed by 25 cycles (94°C for 1 min, 55°C for 1 min and 72°C for 2 min) and a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. Equivalent or stronger expression of *MDM2* with respect to *DRD2* was regarded as positive indication of *MDM2* amplification.

4.2.6.1 Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (**RT-PCR**)

First strand synthesis was carried out using 250ng RNA in a final volume of 20µl containing 50mM Tris-HCl, 75mM KCl, 3mM MgCl₂, 10mM DTT, 250µM each dNTP, 0.5µl of hexanucleotide mix and 100U M-MLV reverse transcriptase at 37°C for 2 h. 2.5µl of the first strand reaction was subsequently used for each PCR using primers and conditions as listed in Section 4.1.4. 0.3µM final primer concentration was used in a reaction mix as described above. The number of cycles was limited to 28 to ensure a linear amplification of the PCR products.

4.2.6.2 **RT-PCR for mdm2 splice variants**

A nested PCR method was used in order to detect specifically mdm2 splice variants, based on a published protocol (Sigalas et al. 1996). 5µl of first strand, generated as described above, was used in a 50µl PCR reaction mix containing 1 x Takara Ex reaction buffer, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.6µM hmdm2ex primer pair, 200µM each dNTP and 1U Takara Ex *Taq* DNA polymerase. The PCR was carried out for 30 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, 55°C for 1 min and 72°C for 2.5 min, followed by an extension at 72°C for 5 min. The second round of the nested PCR was performed under identical conditions with 0.6µM hmdm2in primers and 5µl of the first round PCR reaction mixture. The products of the second PCR were analysed by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and visualised by ethidium bromide (EtBr) staining and ultraviolet (UV) translumination.

4.2.7 Electrophoresis

4.2.7.1 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Samples in loading buffer were applied to polymerised 0.5 - 1 % agarose in 1 x TAE in a horizontal gel chamber. Electrophoresis was performed with maximal 10V/cm and 1 x TAE running buffer. Thereafter the agarose gel was stained with 0.01% EtBr for 5 min and excess was washed off in distilled water for 30 min, before visualising and documenting the nucleic acid fragments with a UV light source. Fragment size was determined by comparison to a standard marker ladder.

4.2.7.2 PAGE and silver staining

10µ1 of PCR product was added to 2µ1 of loading buffer and analysed by nondenaturing PAGE (12.5% polyacrylamide) at 125V for 1 h. Gels were silver stained by fixing in 10% ethanol (5 min), oxidising in 1% nitric acid (3 min), incubating in 12mM silver nitrate (20 min) and reducing in a solution containing 0.28M sodium carbonate and 0.019% formalin until bands appear. The reaction was stopped with 10% glacial acetic acid (2 min). The gel was then placed in distilled water (2 min), before drying on Whatman paper. Fragment size was determined by comparison to a standard marker ladder.

4.2.8 Flow cytometry

At 24h after treatment, asynchronous irradiated cells and non-radiated control cells were fixed in ice-cold 70% methanol. Flow cytometric measurements were kindly performed in the Institute of Pathology, University of Regensburg, Germany (Director: Prof. Dr. med. F. Hofstädter), where the alcohol fixed cells were incubated with 5µg RNase at 37°C for 1h and then stained with 0.05 mg/ml propidium iodide. For flow cytometric analysis, fluoresence was excited using an air-cooled argon ion laser (emission wavelength 488 nm, output power 40 mW). Data evaluation started with

elimination of doublets and debris on a dot plot of the propidium iodide signals pulse area versus pulse width. Univarate cell cycle analysis was performed with the Phoenix flow systems MULTIPLUS software. Measurements for the cell lines were performed in triplicate and for primary cell cultures in duplicate, where possible given the limited quantity of material, to ensure reproducibility. The results were calculated as means of the replicates. Where two stem cell lines were present within the cell sample, the mean of both sets of percentage values was taken. The data were analysed in the context of the collected results by the author.

4.2.9 Cytotoxicity test

At 24h after treatment irradiated cells and non-radiated control cells were trypsinised and resuspended at a cell concentration of 1×10^5 /ml. 100µl of this cell suspension was dispensed into each replicate of 8 wells in a 96 well plate. 15µl of a tetrazolium-containing dye solution were added to each well and incubated at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere. After 4h 100µl of a Solubilisation/Stop solution was added per well, to solubilise the formazan product converted from tetrazolium by living cells. After a 1h incubation period at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere and careful mixing, the absorbance was read at 570nm wavelength using an ELISA plate reader. The mean percentage reduction in absorbance between the non-radiated and the irradiated samples, each of which had been in culture for identical time periods, was taken to represent the percentage of cell death within the irradiated samples.

4.2.10 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of frequency distributions was performed using the Chisquared test. In view of the small fields of frequency, the Fisher's Exact variant of the Chi-squared test was used according to a standard statistical programme.

5. **RESULTS**

5.1 Clinical Parameters

Primary cell cultures were established from a total of 21 glial tumours. As shown in Table 5.1, the selected tumours included one grade II astrocytoma, one grade II oligoastrocytoma, one grade III astrocytoma, one grade III oligoastrocytoma, 6 secondary GBMs and 11 *de novo* GBMs, providing representation of the spectrum of malignant glial tumours. In two cases the tumour had been subjected to radiation therapy before being established in culture (NCH 135 and NCH 128). In all other cultures the tumour cells were naive to the effect of ionising irradiation.

Overall, the mean patient age was 51.7 years, with a range from 28 to 75 years. The secondary GBM and *de novo* GBM patient groups had mean ages of 48.3 years and 54.2 years respectively. 62% of the entire patient group were male. An even distribution of gender was observed in the secondary GBMs and grade II and III glial tumours. A male preponderance (9:2) was seen in the *de novo* GBM group. Over a partially retrospective observation period of 84 months, the length of survival from the time of initial diagnosis for patients with grade II and III tumours ranged from 13 to 84 months and all four patients survived beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survival time for patients with secondary GBMs from the time of their diagnosis with a grade II or III tumour was 31.8 months (n=6), whereby the statistics for survival time after progression to GBM were unfortunately not available. 3 of these 6 patients survived beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survival from the time of the observation period. The mean survived beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survived beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survivel beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survivel beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survivel from the time of beyond the end of the observation period. The mean survivel from the time of the observation period. The mean survivel from the time of diagnosis of *de novo* GBMs was 10.9 months (n=11) and 2 of the 11 patients survived beyond the end of the observation period.

5.2 Cell morphology and growth characteristics

The cell morphology in the primary cultures was highly variable, as illustrated in Figures 5.2.1 and 5.2.2. The typical features of relatively large, markedly pleomorphic glial cells with prominent cell body extensions were demonstrable in culture. The glial tumour primary cultures rarely grew to more than 80% cell confluence. No consistent morphological characteristics distinguishing between either the different grades of glial tumour, nor between secondary and *de novo* GBMs could be determined.

Table 5.1 shows the clinical data for the patients from which primary cell cultures of glial tumours were established. In this and following tables and figures, astrocytoma and oligoastrocytoma are abbreviated to A and OA, respectively, and tumour WHO grade is shown by Roman numerals. Survival beyond the end of the observation period is indicated by the superfix 'L' after the stated length of survival.

Tumour	Diagnosis	Patient age (years)	Patient sex	Previous radiotherapy	Survival time
				17	(months)
G118	OA II	61	F	-	31 ^L
G156	A II	50	F	-	15 ^L
G114	A III	56	F	-	13 ^L
NCH 135	OA III	32	Μ	yes	84 ^L
G101	2° GBM	62	F	-	22
G109	2° GBM	57	Μ	-	5
G150	2° GBM	63	F	-	12 ^L
NCH 59	2° GBM	46	F	-	74
NCH 105	2° GBM	28	Μ	-	19 ^L
NCH 128	2° GBM	34	Μ	yes	59 ^L
G100	de novo GBM	46	Μ	-	13
G112	de novo GBM	56	Μ	-	12
G113	de novo GBM	50	F	-	1
G116	de novo GBM	42	F	-	9
G117	de novo GBM	49	Μ	-	23 ^L
G120	de novo GBM	64	Μ	-	17
G122	de novo GBM	49	Μ	-	10
G139	de novo GBM	63	Μ	-	6
G145	de novo GBM	58	Μ	-	9
G147	de novo GBM	75	Μ	-	6
G148	de novo GBM	44	М	-	14 ^L

Figure 5.2.1 Morphology of primary cell cultures established from grade II and grade III astrocytomas and oligoastrocytomas



G156 (A II)



G118 (OA II)



G114 (A III)



NCH 135 (OA III)

Figure 5.2.2 Comparison of the morphology of primary cell cultures from secondary versus *de novo* glioblastomas



secondary GBM

G109

de novo GBM



G113



NCH 105



G139



NCH 128



G147

Figure 5.2.3 Morphology of glioblastoma cell lines LN 229 (wt p53), LN 18 (mutant p53) and LN Z308 (absent p53)



LN 229



LN 18



LN Z308

Table 5.2 shows the passaging time (days in culture required for proliferation from 30% to 80% cell confluence for cells beyond the first passage) *in vitro* of the primary glial cultures and GBM cell lines. The passage in which cells were exposed to irradiation during the course of the experiments is also shown.

Tumour culture	Diagnosis	Passaging time (days)	Cell passage irradiated
G118	OA II	4	4
G156	A II	2	2
G114	A III	5	4
NCH 135	OA III	1	4
G101	2° GBM	10	4
G109	2° GBM	3	2
G150	2° GBM	2	3
NCH 59	2° GBM	1	4
NCH 105	2° GBM	3	4
NCH 128	2° GBM	1	4
G100	de novo GBM	3	4
G112	de novo GBM	7	3
G113	de novo GBM	2	2
G116	de novo GBM	2	3
G117	de novo GBM	2	3
G120	de novo GBM	3	4
G122	de novo GBM	7	2
G139	de novo GBM	5	4
G145	de novo GBM	2	3
G147	de novo GBM	3	2
G148	de novo GBM	4	2
LN 229	GBM cell line,	2	271
LN 18	wt p53 GBM cell line,	1	545
LN Z308	mutant p53 GBM cell line, absent p53	4	82

The morphology of the GBM cell lines LN 229, LN 18 and LN Z308 differed significantly from that of the primary cell cultures, as illustrated in Figure 5.2.3. The cells were smaller, more uniform in size and shape, with less pronounced cell body extensions, and grew to full confluence. The three GBM cell lines were of value as a form of control in the following experiments due to their well defined p53 status.

Table 5.2 shows the passaging time for each of the primary cultures and the cell lines, defined by the number of days between seeding to 30% confluence and attainment of 80% confluence. Passaging times ranged from a minimum of one day to a maximum of ten days. No significant trend in the *in vitro* passaging time was observed in relation to increasing grade of tumour. Also shown in the table are the passages in which each tumour culture underwent irradiation during the experiments.

5.3 Molecular characterisation

5.3.1 p53 mutational SSCP band shifts

SSCP analysis of exons 5 to 8 of the p53 gene revealed band shifts in 8 out of 21 primary cell cultures of glial tumours, including 6 out of 17 GBMs. All but one of the mutational band shifts were detected in exon 8, which is regarded as the mutation 'hot spot' area of p53. The exception to this finding was G101, in which a band shift was observed in exon 6. Figure 5.3.1 provides an example of an SSCP gel for exon 8, in which band shifts in both directions relative to the wt p53 pattern are illustrated. Table 5.3 summarises the molecular characterisation of the glial tumour primary cultures.

An SSCP band shift indicative of p53 mutation was displayed in all GBMs which had progressed from a grade II or III glial tumour, and in the grade II and III astrocytomas, G156 and G114. No band shift was observed in exons 5 to 8 in either of the mixed oligoastrocytic tumours, G118 and NCH 135, nor in any of the 11 cases of *de novo* GBM.

Figure 5.3.1 SSCP analysis for exon 8 of p53 showing band shifts indicative of mutations in the positive control (PK, mutation in codon 273) and primary cultures NCH 128, G150, NCH 59, G114 and G109 (from left to right indicated by arrows)



Table 5.3 shows the results of molecular characterisation. SSCP analysis for p53 showed either a wt pattern, represented by 'wt', or a band shift in the noted exon, suggestive of a mutation. The level of p53 protein expression is represented by '0'; zero, '+'; modest, '++'; marked and '+++'; very pronounced protein expression. Presence of *MDM2* amplification or mdm2 splice variants is indicated by '+' in their respective columns, the number of crosses indicating the number of different sized splices detected in the latter. 'N.D.' indicates sample not tested.

Tumour	Diagnosis	p53 SSCP	p53 protein	MDM2	mdm2 splice
		band shifts	expression	amplification	variant
G118	OA II	wt	+	-	+
G156	A II	ex.8	0	-	-
G114	A III	ex.8	++	-	+
NCH 135	OA III	wt	++	-	N.D.
G101	2° GBM	ex.6	+	-	-
G109	2° GBM	ex.8	+	+	-
G150	2° GBM	ex.8	+	-	+
NCH 59	2° GBM	ex.8	0	-	-
NCH 105	2° GBM	ex.8	0	-	N.D.
NCH 128	2° GBM	ex.8	0	-	-
G100	de novo GBM	wt	+	-	+
G112	de novo GBM	wt	+	-	+
G113	de novo GBM	wt	+	-	+
G116	de novo GBM	wt	++	+	+
G117	de novo GBM	wt	0	+	-
G120	de novo GBM	wt	0	-	-
G122	de novo GBM	wt	0	-	-
G139	de novo GBM	wt	+++	-	+
G145	de novo GBM	wt	++	-	+
G147	de novo GBM	wt	0	-	-
G148	de novo GBM	wt	++	-	-
LN 229	GBM cell line	wt	+++	+	++
LN 18	GBM cell line	ex.7	+++	-	+
LN Z308	GBM cell line	absent	0	+	-

5.3.2 p53 protein expression

Under non-radiated conditions, p53 protein was detected in 13 of the 21 glial tumour primary cultures. Very pronounced basal p53 protein expression was detected in the GBM cell lines LN 229 and LN 18. No p53 protein was detectable in LN Z308. In 4 of the 8 primary cultures in which p53 showed mutational band shifts on SSCP analysis, p53 protein was detectable by Western blot analysis. In 9 of the 13 cultures where a wt p53 SSCP pattern was present, p53 protein was detectable. 5 of these 9 cases showed either marked or very pronounced p53 protein expression, assessed according to the semi-quantitative scale described previously. Figure 5.3.2 shows that p53 protein expression was particularly pronounced in the *de novo* GBM cultures G116 and G139, where it was quantitatively equivalent to the expression of wt p53 protein in the GBM cell line LN 229. This level of p53 protein accumulation was greater than that observed in any of the primary cultures established from secondary GBMs. The results are summarised in Table 5.3.

5.3.3 *MDM2* gene amplification

MDM2 amplification was detected in two of the three GBM cell lines; LN 229, which bears wt p53, and LN Z308, in which no p53 protein is expressed, as illustrated in Figure 5.3.2. *MDM2* amplification was not present in the mutant p53 cell line LN 18. Investigation of the glial tumour primary cultures showed that *MDM2* was amplified in 3 of the 21 cultures. Two of the cultures in which *MDM2* amplification was detected, G117 and G116, were derived from *de novo* GBMs, but the third, G109, originated from a secondary GBM.

5.3.4 mdm2 splice variants

In order to investigate whether, according to the literature for bladder and ovarian carcinomas (Sigalas et al. 1996), mdm2 is alternatively spliced in human glial tumours *in vitro*, 19 of the primary glial tumour cultures and the three GBM cell lines were screened. The results are shown in Table 5.3. Spliced mdm2 transcripts were detected in 9 out of 19 primary cultures and in the GBM cell lines LN 229 and LN 18, as

Figure 5.3.2 Expression of p53 protein (upper panel), amplification of the MDM2 gene in comparison to the reference dopamine receptor gene DRD2 (second panel) and expression of mdm2 splice variants (bottom panel) in LN 229, LN 18, LN Z308 and *de novo* GBMs with wt p53



illustrated in Figure 5.3.2. A single variant transcript was expressed in all cases, with the exception of LN 229, which demonstrated two splices. Of those primary cultures with mutational SSCP band shifts for p53, spliced mdm2 transcripts were detected in 2 out of 7 cases, whereas 7 out of 12 primary cultures bearing a wt p53 SSCP pattern displayed the presence of an mdm2 splice variant.

The spliced transcripts detected ranged in size between 90 and 300 base pairs. Sequencing of the spliced transcripts showed loss of at least part of the p53 binding domain in all of the variants detected, as illustrated in Figure 5.3.5.

A significant correlation was determined between the presence of an mdm2 splice variant and detection of p53 protein in the glial tumour primary cultures (Fisher's Exact Test, p<0.01). The correlation between the presence of a spliced mdm2 variant and wt p53 protein detection attained the same level of significance (Fisher's Exact Test, p<0.01).

5.4 The dose response to ionising irradiation

In order to determine the most appropriate dose of ionising irradiation for use in the following experiments, a dose response curve for normal fibroblasts and the GBM cell lines LN 229 and LN 18, which bear wt and mutant p53 respectively, was performed. The biological effect of the irradiation was measured in terms of the percentage of cells present in G1 phase of the cell cycle at 24 h after irradiation as compared to non-radiated control cells at the same time point, as shown in Figure 5.4..

Normal fibroblasts showed an effective response to irradiation, with an arrest of cells at the G1 checkpoint observed from a dose of 1 Gy, maximal at 2 Gy. A marginal decline in the plateau of the response curve was observed from this point, indicative of an increasing number of apoptotic or necrotic cells at increasing doses of irradiation. In the GBM cell line LN 229, no significant response to irradiation was observed until a dose of 6 Gy was reached. At and above this dose of 6 Gy, the LN 229 cells showed a modest arrest in G1 with the effect plateauing at a maximum between 7 and 12 Gy. The GBM cell line LN 18 demonstrated a slight increase in the percentage of cells in G1 at 2 Gy irradiation, but not at any other irradiation dose, raising doubts as to the significance of the response seen at 2 Gy. A marked decline in the percentage of cells in G1 phase was observed at doses higher than 6 Gy in LN 18.

Figure 5.3.4 shows schematically the spliced transcripts of mdm2 identified in GBM cell lines and primary cell cultures, as compared to the full length mdm2 RNA. The p53 binding domain, which is essential for the mdm2 function of p53 protein degradation, is shown to be disrupted in the splice variants.



Figure 5.4 shows the percentage of cells within the G1 phase of the cell cycle at 24 h after increasing doses of ionising irradiation in normal fibroblasts and the GBM cell lines LN 229 (wt p53) and LN 18 (mutant p53). Non-radiated control cells are represented by the dose 0 Gy. Since the response of fibroblasts was not measured above 7 Gy except for a measurement at 10 Gy, a single point for their response at 10 Gy is shown in the diagram.



On the grounds of the results for the wt p53 GBM cell line, LN 229, it was reasoned that in order to study the effects of ionising radiation on glial tumours *in vitro*, it was necessary to use doses greater than 6 Gy. Since the effects on G1 arrest between doses of 7 Gy and 12 Gy were equivalent in LN 229, a dose of 10 Gy was chosen for subsequent experiments on the cell lines and primary cultures.

Since the effects of irradiation on the G1 checkpoint in fibroblasts were detectable at lower doses, and significant cell necrosis was probably induced at the high radiation dose of 10 Gy, fibroblasts were irradiated at 7 Gy to provide a normal control for the subsequent experiments.

5.5 The response of glial tumour cell cultures to irradiation

5.5.1 Cell Morphology

Irradiation of the glial primary cell cultures and GBM cell lines with 10 Gy did not result in any morphological changes visible by light microscopy. In all cases the cells remained adherent and, as can be seen in the example in Figure 5.5.1, the cells continued to proliferate. Light microscopy revealed that a proportion of normal human fibroblasts became non-adherent after irradiation and that no significant cell proliferation occurred during the 48 h after irradiation.

5.5.2 The effect of irradiation on cell cycle checkpoints

All primary cell cultures and cell lines were analysed by flow cytometry 24 h after irradiation with 10 Gy and compared to a non-radiated control of a replicate culture at the same cell confluence. The results are summarised in Table 5.5.2.

Arrest at the G1 checkpoint after irradiation occurred in only 3 of 19 glial tumour primary cultures. G1 arrest failed in 14 out of 15 GBMs *in vitro*. Failure of the G1 checkpoint in GBMs occurred in the presence of both wt and mutant p53, spanning both secondary and *de novo* groups of GBM. The sole exception to this was the secondary GBM culture NCH 128, which showed a G1 arrest equivalent to that seen in normal fibroblasts. A minimal G1 arrest was observed in G156, established from a grade II astrocytoma and a moderate G1 arrest occurred in the grade III oligoastrocytoma NCH 135. In cultures established from the remaining two cases of grade II and III glial tumours, G1 arrest did not occur following irradiation. Normal fibroblasts showed an arrest at the G1 cell cycle checkpoint of up to 93% of cells after irradiation with 7 Gy (see Section 5.4).

G2/M arrest was observed in 15 out of 19 glial tumour primary cultures and in all three GBM cell lines. Arrest of fibroblasts at the G2/M checkpoint was not observed. The effect of irradiation on the percentage of cells in S phase was variable and inconsistent. No significant arrest at S phase was observed in irradiated normal fibroblasts.

Figure 5.5.1 Morphology of primary cell culture G116, established from a *de novo* glioblastoma, before and 24h after irradiation with 10 Gy





24h after 10 Gy

Table 5.5.2 shows the differences between the percentages of cells in each phase of the cell cycle after irradiation with respect to non-radiated control cells. A positive number indicates an increase in the percentage of cells after irradiation, i.e. arrest, and a negative number indicates a reduction in the percentage of cells in the respective phase. Samples that were not measured are represented in the table as N.D. (not done).

Culture	Diagnosis	p53 SSCP	Change in %	Change in %	Change in %
		band shifts	G1	cells in S	cells in G2/M
G118	OA II	wt	-5.1	+7.1	-2.0
G156	A II	mutant	+2.1	-4.6	+2.5
G114	A III	mutant	-2.6	-8.0	+10.6
NCH 135	OA III	wt	+4.7	-5.1	+0.4
G101	2° GBM	mutant	-21.5	-19.1	+40.6
G109	2° GBM	mutant	-7.5	-3.3	+10.8
G150	2° GBM	mutant	-33.2	-2.6	+35.8
NCH 59	2° GBM	mutant		N.D.	
NCH 105	2° GBM	mutant	-4.5	-17.0	+21.4
NCH 128	2° GBM	mutant	+7.9	-9.7	+1.8
G100	de novo GBM	wt	-1.2	+1.6	-0.4
G112	de novo GBM	wt	-9.6	+12.7	-3.1
G113	de novo GBM	wt	-56.8	-0.4	+57.2
G116	de novo GBM	wt	-35.6	+6.0	+29.6
G117	de novo GBM	wt	-19.3	-29.9	+49.2
G120	de novo GBM	wt		N.D.	
G122	de novo GBM	wt	-18.8	+14.3	+4.5
G139	de novo GBM	wt	-24.4	-2.1	+26.5
G145	de novo GBM	wt	-3.8	-12.0	+15.8
G147	de novo GBM	wt	-39.7	+40.5	-0.7
G148	de novo GBM	wt	-1.8	-17.2	+19.0
LN 229	GBM cell line	wt	-1.2	-18.6	+19.8
LN 18	GBM cell line	mutant	-22.1	-21.5	+43.6
LN Z308	GBM cell line	absent	-6.4	-24.9	+31.3
fibroblasts	normal	wt	+8.3	-7.9	-0.3

5.5.3 The effect of irradiation on p53 and its regulators

5.5.3.1 mRNA expression of p53 and ATM

Figure 5.5.3.1 shows a representative example of p53 mRNA expression in both secondary and *de novo* GBMs. As with all further data presented, expression of the house-keeping gene ß actin provided a control for each sample. ß actin displayed constant and quantitatively equivalent expression throughout the series of primary cultures and cell lines, confirming the quantitatively reproducible synthesis of complementary DNA from RNA during RT-PCR. Specificity in each reaction was confirmed by the appearance of a single PCR amplification product of expected size, and negative controls for all primers excluded contamination.

p53 mRNA was variably detected before irradiation in control fibroblast primary cultures and all glial tumour primary cultures and GBM cell lines, with the exception of the p53-null cell line LN Z308, in which p53 RNA transcripts were absent. Marked expression of p53 mRNA was observed in six of the glial tumour primary cultures, but analysis by Fisher's Exact Test demonstrated no significant correlation between basal p53 mRNA and protein expression levels.

The mRNA expression of p53 either remained stable or was reduced at 2 h after irradiation. At 8 h after irradiation moderate expression of p53 mRNA was a consistent finding throughout the primary cultures, despite variations in their baseline levels of expression. mRNA expression of the upstream regulator of p53, ATM, was detected in all primary cultures and cell lines, including LN Z308 and fibroblasts. The level of baseline expression was variable and showed no consistent response to irradiation, as illustrated in Figure 5.5.3.1.

5.5.3.2 mRNA expression of mdm2

Constitutive mdm2 expression was observed throughout the series of glial primary cultures and GBM cell lines, illustrated in Figure 5.5.3.2. High levels of basal mdm2 expression occurred even in the absence of *MDM2* amplification. A similarly strong basal mdm2 expression was detected before irradiation in control fibroblasts.

In response to irradiation, mdm2 expression in the fibroblast and glial tumour primary cultures remained stable at high expression levels. In all three GBM cell lines,

Figure 5.5.3.1 mRNA expression levels of ß actin, ATM and p53 at 2 h and 8 h after irradiation with 10 Gy as compared to non-radiated controls ('0') in OA°III (first column), secondary GBM (second and third columns) and *de novo* GBM (final three columns)



ß actin







Figure 5.5.3.2 mRNA expression levels of mdm2 at 2 h and 8 h after irradiation with 10 Gy as compared to non-radiated controls ('0') in grade III astrocytoma (first column), grade III oligoastrocytoma (second column), secondary GBM (next four columns) and *de novo* GBM (final five columns)



strong basal expression of mdm2 mRNA was not affected significantly by irradiation.

5.5.3.3 p53 protein expression after irradiation

Expression of p53 protein was not detectable in control fibroblasts, either before or after irradiation. In glial tumours *in vitro*, the effect of irradiation on the level of p53 protein expression was variable, depending on whether increased p53 protein expression was present before irradiation (see Section 5.3.2). In those primary glial cultures with no detectable basal p53 protein expression, the level of p53 protein either remained undetectable (3 out of 8 cases) or showed a modest increment (5 out of 8 cases) after irradiation.

A pronounced reduction in p53 protein was observed after irradiation in 11 of the 13 glial tumour primary cultures which exhibited increased basal p53 protein expression, as shown in Table 5.5.3.3. In the 2 remaining cases, wt p53 was modestly ('+') expressed before irradiation and demonstrated a brief increase in detectable levels after irradiation. The 11 cases where reduction in p53 protein expression was observed after irradiation spanned both secondary and *de novo* GBM cultures.

The GBM cell lines LN 18 and LN 229, in which p53 protein was very strongly basally expressed ('+++'), showed a moderate reduction in the level of detectable p53 protein after irradiation (see Figure 5.5.5.1).

Table 5.5.3.3 shows the basal expression levels of p21 mRNA and p53 protein together with the direction of change in expression levels after irradiation with 10 Gy.

Undetectable expression is represented by '0' and basal overexpression by '+'.

Culture	Diagnosis	basal p21	p53 protein	p21 expression	p53 protein level
		expression	expression	after irradiation	after irradiation
G118	OA II	0	+	no change	brief increase
G156	A II	0	0	no change	no change
G114	A III	+	+	no change	reduction
NCH 135	OA III	0	+	brief increase	reduction
G101	2° GBM	+	+	reduction	reduction
G109	2° GBM	+	+	no change	reduction
G150	2° GBM	0	+	no change	reduction
NCH 59	2° GBM	+	0	reduction	sustained increase
NCH 105	2° GBM	+	0	reduction	sustained increase
NCH 128	2° GBM	+	0	reduction	brief increase
G100	de novo GBM	+	+	reduction	reduction
G112	de novo GBM	+	+	reduction	reduction
G113	de novo GBM	0	+	brief increase	brief increase
G116	de novo GBM	+	+	no change	reduction
G117	de novo GBM	+	0	reduction	no change
G120	de novo GBM	0	0	brief increase	late increase
G122	de novo GBM	0	0	brief increase	no change
G139	de novo GBM	+	+	reduction	reduction
G145	de novo GBM	+	+	brief increase	reduction
G147	de novo GBM	0	0	sustained increase	brief increase
G148	de novo GBM	0	+	sustained increase	reduction
LN 229	GBM cell line	+	+	reduction	reduction
LN 18	GBM cell line	+	+	reduction	reduction
LN Z308	GBM cell line	+	0	no change	no change
fibroblasts	normal	0	0	brief increase	brief increase

5.5.4 The effect of irradiation on expression of p21 and gadd45

In control fibroblasts the p53-inducible genes *WAF1*, which encodes p21, and *GADD45* were transcriptionally activated at 2 h after irradiation from minimal basal mRNA levels, as shown in Figure 5.5.4.1. mRNA levels of gadd45 remained elevated at 8 h after irradiation, while those of p21 had returned to pre-irradiation levels.

RT-PCR revealed that, compared to the basal levels of p21 observed in control fibroblasts, p21 was overexpressed before irradiation in 5 out of 6 secondary GBMs and 6 out of 11 *de novo* GBMs. Basal overexpression of p21 mRNA was observed in only one of the four grade II and III glial tumours. The results are summarised in Table 5.5.3.3. Eight of the 12 glial tumour primary cultures with increased basal p21 expression also exhibited elevated basal expression of gadd45 mRNA and increased basal p53 protein expression. A statistically significant correlation between overexpression of p21 mRNA and p53 protein was not present (Fisher's Exact Test).

All three of the GBM cell lines displayed high basal levels of p21 mRNA, which were mirrored by elevated gadd45 expression in all but LN 18 (see Figure 5.5.5.1). After irradiation, the basally upregulated levels of p21 and gadd45 were diminished in LN 229 and unaltered in LN Z308. In LN 18 the basally upregulated level of p21 mRNA was reduced after irradiation, whereas gadd45 was induced from a minimal basal level of expression.

Figure 5.5.4.2 and Table 5.5.3.3 show the effect of irradiation with 10 Gy on p21 mRNA expression in the glial tumour primary cultures. Induction of p21 mRNA at 2 h after irradiation occurred in all 5 *de novo* GBMs in which p21 was minimally expressed before irradiation. In 3 of these 5 cases the level of p21 expression had returned to baseline levels by 8 h after irradiation. In 8 out of the 11 *de novo* and secondary GBMs exhibiting basal p21overexpression, irradiation caused a reduction in the p21 expression.

Statistical analysis showed no significant correlation between the reduction in p21 mRNA and p53 protein levels occurring after irradiation.

The pattern of response of gadd45 mRNA levels to irradiation was similar to that seen for p21. In all 7 *de novo* GBMs where basal gadd45 expression was minimal, irradiation led to induction of gadd45 mRNA. The 4 *de novo* GBMs expressing abnormally high levels of gadd45 mRNA before irradiation responded without

Figure 5.5.4.1 The effect of irradiation with 7 Gy on cell cycle control in fibroblast primary cell cultures at 2 h and 8 h as compared to non-radiated control ('0'). Flow cytometry analysis in irradiated and non-radiated cells at 24 h shown.



p21 RNA









bcl-2 RNA

bcl-XL RNA

Figure 5.5.4.2 mRNA expression levels of p21 at 2 h and 8 h after irradiation with 10 Gy as compared to non-radiated controls ('0') in grade II tumours (first two columns), secondary GBM (next four columns) and *de novo* GBM (final nine columns)



exception to irradiation by a reduction in gadd45. The gadd45 response to irradiation in secondary GBMs and grade II and III glial tumours was not consistent.

5.5.5 Relationship between p21 and gadd45 induction and G1 arrest

Figures 5.5.5.1 to 5.5.5.5 illustrate the range of responses observed in p53, p21, gadd45 and in the cell cycle itself after irradiation of the glial tumour cultures.

Irradiation of the wt p53 GBM cell line, LN 229, did not lead to induction of either p21 or gadd45 and failed to induce G1 arrest (Figure 5.5.5.1). Basal levels of p21 and gadd45 mRNA and p53 protein were all high in LN 229. The response of the mutant p53 cell line LN 18 was similar to that seen in LN 229. G1 arrest also failed in the p53-null GBM cell line LN Z308, where basally upregulated p21 and gadd45 mRNA levels were not altered by irradiation. A substantial arrest of cells at the G2/M checkpoint occurred in all three GBM cell lines.

Figure 5.5.2 demonstrates the changes occurring in the cell cycle and its regulators in primary cell cultures derived from two grade III glial tumours and two secondary GBMs. NCH 135, established from a grade III oligoastrocytoma with wt p53 SSCP pattern, showed an effective arrest of cells in G1, paralleled by significant induction of both p21 and gadd45 mRNA at 2 h after irradiation and reduction in the basally detectable p53 protein. In the remaining three tumour cultures shown, all of which demonstrated mutational p53 SSCP band shifts, neither p21 activation nor G1 arrest was achieved after irradiation, but G2/M arrest did occur. The sole exception to this pattern of response in the secondary GBM primary cultures was NCH 128, where a definite G1 arrest occurred.

Figure 5.5.5.3 provides examples of 2 of the 6 *de novo* GBMs exhibiting basal overexpression of p21. In both these examples, p21 mRNA, gadd45 mRNA and p53 protein were all basally overexpressed. Irradiation resulted in reduction of p53 protein and gadd45 mRNA, and reduced or unaltered p21 mRNA levels. Correspondingly, G1 arrest failed but substantial G2/M arrest was effected by irradiation.

Figures 5.5.5.4 and 5.5.5.5 illustrate *de novo* GBM cultures in which G1 arrest failed despite successful transcriptional activation of p21 after irradiation. Minimal basal p21 expression associated with the absence of wt p53 protein stabilisation in three of these cultures.

Figure 5.5.5.1 Flow cytometry analysis and expression of cell cycle regulators in irradiated (10 Gy) and non-radiated glioblastoma cell lines. In this and following figures, non-radiated controls are represented by '0' and irradiated samples by 'irr.'.



Figure 5.5.5.2 Flow cytometry analysis and expression of cell cycle regulators in irradiated (10 Gy) and non-radiated primary cell cultures from an A III (G114), A III (NCH 135), and secondary GBMs (G101 and G150). ('0' = non-radiated control, 'irr.' = irradiated sample)


Figure 5.5.5.3 Flow cytometry analysis and expression of cell cycle regulators in irradiated (10 Gy) and non-radiated primary cell cultures derived from *de novo* GBMs, in which basal wt p53 protein is overexpressed.

('0' = non-radiated control, 'irr.' = irradiated sample)



Figure 5.5.5.4 Flow cytometry analysis and expression of cell cycle regulators in irradiated (10 Gy) and non-radiated primary cell cultures derived from *de novo* GBMs, in which basal wt p53 protein is not detectable.

('0' = non-radiated control, 'irr.' = irradiated sample)





Figure 5.5.5.5 Flow cytometry analysis and expression of cell cycle regulators in irradiated (10 Gy) and non-radiated primary cell cultures derived from *de novo* GBMs, in which G1 arrest failed despite induction of p21 and gadd45. ('0' = non-radiated control, 'irr.' = irradiated sample)





5.5.6 Cell viability after irradiation

An indication of the cytotoxic effect suffered by irradiated cells was obtained from a test of the viability of irradiated cells compared to non-radiated control cells, at the same time point. A 15.5% reduction of cell viability (standard deviation (SD) 0.4%) in irradiated fibroblasts at a total of 28 h after irradiation was observed. Irradiation of the GBM cell lines LN 229 and LN Z308 led to 1.0% and 10.2% reduction in cell viability respectively (SDs 0.4% and 0.4% respectively). The cell line LN 18 demonstrated a cellular proliferation of 1.5% (SD 0.3%) after irradiation rather than a cytotoxic effect. The primary culture NCH 135, which did achieve a G1 arrest after irradiation, showed only 7.1% reduction in cell viability (SD 0.1%) after irradiation. Other primary glial cultures showed proliferation after irradiation or a lesser degree of cytotoxicity as compared to the culture, NCH 135.

5.5.7 The effect of irradiation on regulators of apoptosis

5.5.7.1 The bcl-2 family

In irradiated control fibroblasts, mRNA levels of the pro-apoptotic regulator bax increased significantly at 2 h after irradiation from minimal basal levels and showed continuing transcriptional activation at 8 h after irradiation (Figure 5.5.4.1). Expression of bcl-2, which was basally weak, declined to an undetectable level at 8 h after irradiation. The long splice variant of bcl-X showed no significant change after irradiation in its moderate levels of expression in fibroblasts.

In all 21 glial tumours *in vitro*, strong mRNA expression of bax was detected before irradiation. After irradiation, the level of mRNA expression of bax was not significantly altered, as illustrated in Figure 5.5.7.1. The anti-apoptotic regulators bcl-2 and bcl- X_L were invariably expressed before irradiation in the glial tumour primary cultures, bcl-2 more weakly than the relatively strongly expressed bcl- X_L . No significant change was detected in the expression of either bcl-2 or bcl- X_L after irradiation of the primary cultures.

Fig 5.5.7.1 mRNA expression of bax, bcl-2 and bcl-XL in non-radiated controls (represented by '0') and irradiated (10Gy) primary cultures derived from grade II tumours (first two columns), secondary GBM (next two columns) and *de novo* GBM (final seven columns).



Figure 5.5.7.2 mRNA expression levels of apoptotic regulators at 2 h and 8 h after irradiation with 10 Gy compared to non-radiated controls (0) in the GBM cell lines LN 229 (wt p53), LN 18 (mutant p53) and LN Z308 (absent p53).



The expression of the bcl-2 family members in the GBM cell lines showed some variation, as illustrated in Figure 5.5.7.2. In LN 229, which bears wt p53, strong expression of bax, bcl-2 and bcl- X_L was present before irradiation and remained stable following irradiation. In contrast, in LN 18, which bears mutant p53, expression of all three regulators was relatively weak before irradiation, but at 2 h and 8 h after irradiation equivalent induction of both bax and bcl- X_L was observed. The expression of bcl-2 was unaltered. In the p53-null GBM cell line LN Z308, bax was strongly expressed before irradiation but was down-regulated after irradiation, bcl-2 was markedly upregulated from 2 h after irradiation and, while bcl- X_L was barely detectable before irradiation, it showed upregulation at 8 h after irradiation.

5.5.7.2 The TRAIL pathway

The KILLER/DR5 receptor was present in all glial primary cultures both before and after irradiation. There was no change in expression of KILLER after irradiation throughout the series. As can be seen in Figure 5.5.7.3, two further larger PCR fragments were detected in addition to the predicted KILLER/DR5 fragment, and likewise showed no response to irradiation. The ligand TRAIL was minimally expressed in 3 out of 21 primary cultures before irradiation, and was not detectable in the remainder. After irradiation weak induction was detected in 9 out of 21 cases, particularly in the secondary GBM cultures (4 out of 6 cases). Weak expression of the decoy receptor TRID was detected in 7 out of 21 glial tumour primary cultures before irradiation. Induction of the decoy receptor TRID to modest levels occurred in 12 out of 21 cases. TRAIL was also weakly induced in the cell lines LN 229 and more markedly in LN Z308, in the presence of the KILLER/DR5 receptor but in the absence of the decoy receptor TRID, which showed no response to irradiation (Figure 5.5.7.2). **Figure 5.5.7.3** mRNA expression of TRAIL, KILLER and TRID in non-radiated controls (represented by '0') and irradiated (10Gy) primary cultures derived from grade II tumours (first two columns), secondary GBM (next two columns) and *de novo* GBM (final seven columns)



6. **DISCUSSION**

Current understanding of the cellular response to genotoxic stress evoked by irradiation is rudimentary. Although key molecular players, such as p53 and its downstream target genes, have been identified, their intricate regulation and interactions have not yet been fully elucidated. For radioresistant tumours such as GBMs, a deeper understanding of the mechanisms involved in the response to ionising radiation is crucial in order to permit the development of improved therapeutic strategies.

GBMs can be divided into at least two subgroups. Secondary GBMs bear a mutation in the tumour suppressor gene p53, while *de novo* GBMs are characterised by amplification of the *EGFR* gene and deletion of chromosome 10 (Kleihues and Cavanee 1997). The mechanisms leading to radioresistance and genetic instability in secondary GBMs can be directly related to their loss of p53 function, consequent to mutation. The equally pronounced genetic instability and radioresistance seen in *de novo* GBMs, however, cannot be accounted for by their characteristic genetic alterations, which bear no reported signalling connection to apoptotic pathways. Instead, the radioresistance of *de novo* GBMs indicates that, inspite of the presence of wt p53, the p53 pathway is functionally defective in these GBMs.

The hypothesis that the presence of a wt p53 gene is not synonymous with normal p53 function in *de novo* GBMs forms the crux of the study presented here. The aim was to identify candidate sites of defective regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis in *de novo* GBMs. In essence, this project questions what mechanisms lead to radioresistance in *de novo* GBMs.

The molecular changes induced *in vitro* by ionising radiation in primary cell cultures from both secondary and *de novo* GBMs, as well as three GBM cell lines, have been investigated. Molecular characterisation of the GBM primary cultures has demonstrated frequencies of p53 SSCP band shifts, increased basal p53 protein expression and *MDM2* amplification similar to those reported in the literature for GBM tumour material (Kouzarides 1995, Biernat et al. 1997). The mutational SSCP band shifts for the p53 gene coincided with those tumours within the secondary GBM group, or grade II or III astrocytic tumours. Since no mutation in p53 outside exon 5 to 8 has been reported for glial tumours (Kleihues and Cavanee 1997), the finding of wt SSCP

band patterns for exons 5 to 8 in those cultures established from *de novo* GBMs is most likely to represent intact p53 gene status.

Novel short spliced transcripts of mdm2, the negative regulator of p53, have been identified in both the GBM primary cultures and cell lines. This finding has been supported by a recent publication, reporting the presence of mdm2 splice variants, larger however than those identified here, in GBM tumour material (Matsumoto et al. 1998).

Investigation of the effects of ionising irradiation on this series of GBMs *in vitro* has revealed that significant apoptosis does not occur, G1 arrest fails in more than 90% but the G2/M checkpoint is successfully instigated in up to 80% of cases. p21 overexpression has been identified in both secondary and *de novo* GBM cultures. In those cultures with basally overexpressed p21, irradiation failed to induce p21, actually repressing it in approximately 70%, and failure in G1 arrest ensued. Despite adequate induction of p21 in up to half of *de novo* GBMs after irradiation, G1 arrest was not achieved, indicative of a defect in the p53 pathway downstream from p21 in these cases.

The following section will discuss the results in detail, with particular respect to the functioning of the p53 response and radioresistance mechanisms in *de novo* GBMs.

6.1 Apoptosis

The aim of irradiation treatment of tumour cells is the induction of apoptosis. This study has shown that significant apoptosis does not occur after irradiation of GBM cell lines or glial tumour primary cultures, including those established from *de novo* GBMs. This finding corresponds to the clinical finding of an equally poor response to irradiation in secondary and *de novo* GBMs (Baxendine-Jones et al. 1997). Thus, the question of what mechanisms lead to radioresistance in *de novo* GBMs is valid in this series of *in vitro* cultures. Investigation of the mRNA expression levels of the most important members of the bcl-2 family identified no explanation for abrogation of the apoptotic pathway, but did bring to light several interesting questions which are discussed below.

6.1.1 The bcl-2 family

In GBM primary cultures *in vitro* of both secondary and *de novo* subgroups, the pro-apoptotic regulator bax was strongly expressed both before and after irradiation, without evidence of significant induction after irradiation. Neither was a significant change detected in the expression of bcl-2 or bcl- X_L after irradiation in either secondary or *de novo* GBMs. Before irradiation, bcl- X_L was strongly expressed throughout the glial tumour primary cultures but expression of bcl-2 was relatively weak.

The results presented here support the hypothesis that the p53 response itself is dysfunctional in de novo GBMs. The absence of either significant induction of bax or repression of bcl-2 and bcl-X_L after irradiation in *de novo* GBM cultures, where the p53 gene is intact, shows that the response of p53 itself to irradiation does not function normally in *de novo* GBMs *in vitro*. Since active p53 directly activates the bax promoter (Bogler et al. 1995), a defect in de novo GBMs appears to lie either at the level of p53 itself or upstream, for example at ATM. Consistent with current opinion, this argument makes the assumption that bax is transcriptionally regulated by p53 alone. The p53-null GBM cell line LN Z308, however, expresses bax at relatively high basal levels, indicating that bax expression is not under the sole control of p53. Furthermore, bcl-XL and in particular bcl-2 show marked induction after irradiation in LN Z308. These results indicate that, in addition to control by p53, the bcl-2 family is regulated by p53independent mechanisms which are capable of transcriptionally activating pro-life signals in irradiated tumour cells. There is no report in the literature to date, however, of a such a bcl-2 family regulator. The identification of this putative control mechanism is clearly of paramount importance to resolving the problem of radioresistance in GBMs. Like p53, such a regulator would need to be capable of binding to the bcl-2 family promoters, but with the opposite effect of inducing anti-apoptotic and repressing proapoptotic members. In the absence of potential candidates, the approach of differential display might provide the most effective means of identifying this putative pro-life regulator of the bcl-2 family.

As noted above, the expression of bcl-2 was relatively weak in GBM primary cultures *in vitro*, but bcl- X_L was expressed at levels comparable to those of bax and was not repressed after irradiation. This finding raises the possibility that the pro-life signal provided by bcl- X_L in GBM primary cell cultures is strong enough to prevent apoptosis.

It has been shown, however, that $bcl-X_L$ preferentially heterodimerises with the proapoptotic regulator bad rather than bax (Zha et al. 1996). In the light of the strong bcl- X_L expression detected here in GBMs *in vitro*, it would be interesting to investigate the expression of bad in these cultures; were bad to be relatively weakly expressed in the presence of a strong bcl- X_L signal, this might suffice to retain cytochrome c within the mitochondria and thus prevent caspase activation.

Investigation of bad in these glial tumour cell cultures is also of possible relevance to determining the significance of EGFR amplification, which is the characteristic genetic alteration in *de novo* GBMs. A link has been recently established between growth factor receptors and the pro-apoptotic regulator bad (Datta et al. 1997). Activation by insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) of its receptor has been shown to result in phosphorylation of the serine-threonine kinase c-AKT, via phosphotidylinositide-3'-OH kinase activation. c-AKT activation culminates in the phosphorylation of bad. Since only unphosphorylated bad is able to heterodimerise with and thereby neutralise the effect of the anti-apoptotic factors bcl-2 and bcl-X_L, phosphorylation of bad results in a strengthened survival signal. Thus, growth factors such as IGF-1 are capable of suppressing apoptosis in favour of proliferation. Theoretically the tyrosine kinase EGF receptor may also be capable of leading to phosphorylation of c-AKT, although there is no report to this effect in the literature to date. If such a signal transduction from the EGF receptor were to operate, an amplification and constitutive activation of the EGF receptor, as seen in de novo GBMs, could result in suppression of apoptosis and consequent radioresistance. Thus, although this study has concentrated on the transcriptional level of control of the p53 pathway, post-translational regulation mechanisms may be of even greater importance.

A final question concerns the status of bax. In colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype, in which p53 is usually wt, frameshift mutations in the *BAX* gene are a frequent finding (Rampino et al. 1997). To date, there has been no report of whether *BAX* mutations occur in GBM. Clearly, a loss of function mutation in *BAX* could lead to radioresistance and so this is an important question which needs to be answered, particularly for *de novo* GBMs.

6.1.2 The TRAIL pathway

In view of recent reports that the KILLER/DR5 receptor for the TRAIL ligand is p53-inducible (Wu et al. 1997), the TRAIL pathway was also investigated in the series of glial tumour primary cultures and GBM cell lines. Since the TRAIL ligand was not basally expressed and only weakly induced after irradiation in less than half of the glial primary cultures, the TRAIL pathway does not appear to carry the potential to induce apoptosis in these cells. While KILLER/DR5 was basally expressed in all investigated cultures, no significant change in its expression could be demonstrated after irradiation, indicating that p53 is not capable of effective induction of KILLER/DR5 in glial tumour cells *in vitro*. This lends further support to the hypothesis that p53-dependent induction of its specific direct target genes is defective in GBMs, not only where p53 is mutated but also in *de novo* GBMs in the presence of a wt p53 gene. Interestingly, the PCR for KILLER/DR5 consistently identified two additional larger fragments, which are suggestive of alternative splicing of the receptor, but require confirmation by sequencing. The expression pattern of the two larger fragments, however, did not differ from that of the predicted fragment.

The decoy receptor TRID was weakly expressed after irradiation in approximately half of the GBMs *in vitro*. This contrasts to the published report that TRID is expressed only in non-neoplastic cells, with the function of protecting normal cells from irradiation-induced apoptosis (Pan et al. 1997). While the absence of TRID expression in tumour cells is believed to render the tumours radiosensitive, perhaps the finding here of TRID expression in GBMs contributes to their radioresistance. In view of the minimal TRAIL expression before and after irradiation, however, the significance of TRID induction in GBMs needs to be regarded critically.

6.2 Radiosensitivity and the G1 checkpoint

Although the aim of irradiation treatment of tumour cells is the induction of apoptosis, an intimate relationship exists between both G1 and G2/M arrest and the triggering of apoptosis. Clearly p53 has great influence on all of these events, but it is still not clear how and from which cell cycle state p53 initiates apoptosis . The

following section will discuss the relationship between the G1 checkpoint and radiosensitivity in the light of the results in the glial tumour primary cultures and GBM cell lines.

6.2.1 G1 arrest and apoptosis

Arrest at the G1 checkpoint failed to occur after irradiation in 16 out of 19 glial tumour primary cultures and in all three GBM cell lines. G1 arrest failed in 4 out of 5 secondary GBM cultures, consistent with their mutant p53 status. The sole exception was a secondary GBM which had undergone radiotherapy *in vivo*. The significance of prior irradiation on the cell cycle control is not known, but notably, G1 arrest was achieved in each of the two previously irradiated glial tumour cultures in this series (NCH 135 established from a grade III oligoastrocytoma and the secondary GBM, NCH 128). The patients in both of these cases enjoyed a lengthy survival of 84 and 59 months respectively, suggestive of a relative radiosensitivity.

In none of the primary cultures established from *de novo* GBMs was a G1 arrest successfully invoked after irradiation. The failure of G1 arrest observed in *de novo* GBMs *in vitro* supports the hypothesis that, despite an intact p53 gene, the p53 pathway is functionally defective in *de novo* GBMs.

The failure of G1 arrest in *de novo* GBM cells *in vitro* contrasts sharply with the response of other tumour types which bear wt p53. A study examining the response of a wide range of non-glial tumour cell lines showed that, in the presence of wt p53, irradiation did induce an arrest in G1 phase (O'Connor et al. 1997). In the cell line LN 229 and all the *de novo* GBM primary cultures studied here, however, inspite of their wt p53 status, G1 arrest failed after irradiation.

The finding of a failed G1 arrest in more than 90% of GBM primary cultures may be of particular relevance to the radioresistant nature of these cells. A significant correlation between the level of irradiation-induced G1 arrest and degree of radiosensitivity has been demonstrated in a series of tumour cell lines of varying radiosensitivities (McIlwrath et al. 1994). Failure to arrest in G1 correlated with radioresistance and, furthermore, this reflected a loss of normal p53 function. This is in agreement with the concept that normal p53 function is required for sensitivity of tumour cells to DNA-damaging insults such as irradiation (Fan et al. 1994).

The traditional model of p53 activity proposes that activation of p53 by DNA damage causes G1 arrest, permitting repair before DNA synthesis in S phase, unless the damage is beyond repair, in which case p53 eliminates the cell by apoptosis. In the irradiated GBM cells *in vitro* investigated here, both apoptosis and G1 arrest fail. Does the failure in G1 arrest result in failure of apoptosis in these GBM cells?

Several lines of evidence suggest that G1 arrest is not necessary for p53-mediated apoptosis to occur. For example, haematopoietic cells undergo p53-mediated apoptosis despite failing to arrest in the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Yonish-Rouach et al. 1993). Likewise, p21-null fibroblasts undergo p53-dependent apoptosis but cannot arrest in G1 (Brown et al. 1997). Such findings provide strong evidence that G1 arrest is not a prerequisite for p53-dependent apoptosis, thus invalidating the traditional model of p53 activity mentioned above. Perhaps the failure of both apoptosis and G1 arrest in radioresistant tumour cells merely reflects parallel consequences of disrupted p53 function?

A further twist to the story comes from the finding that transfection of excess functional Rb can rescue cells from p53-mediated apoptosis (Haupt et al. 1995). This suggests that Rb may play a role in inhibiting p53-mediated apoptosis. When Rb is rendered non-functional by mutation, not only is G1 arrest abrogated, but apoptosis is also enhanced (Morgenbesser et al. 1994). Similarly, cells overexpressing E2F, which is negatively regulated by Rb, are prone to p53-mediated apoptosis (Wu and Levine 1994).

Such findings indicate that the inability of a cell to arrest adequately in G1 favours p53-mediated apoptosis. Thus, the invalidated concept that G1 arrest is necessary for apoptosis may simply have been the wrong way round and, rather, *failure* of G1 arrest initiates p53-mediated apoptosis. This would add a further level of sophistication to p53's protection of the genome, by countering mutations in its downstream cell cycle regulators. But if this is the case, why is apoptosis not initiated in the *in vitro* GBMs studied here, since their G1 checkpoint has certainly failed?

6.2.2 The significance of p21 overexpression

The intricate relationship between control of the G1 checkpoint and susceptibility to irradiation-induced apoptosis described above has particular bearing to the overexpression of p21, which has been detected in this series of glial primary cultures and cell lines.

Basal overexpression of p21 is a striking feature of the series studied here, affecting more than 80% of secondary GBMs and 55% of *de novo* GBMs. This finding agrees with a previous report of elevated p21 expression in human GBM tumour tissue compared to normal brain tissue (Jung et al. 1995). Since p21 mutations are not found in GBMs (Koopmann et al. 1995), overexpressed p21 presumably maintains its activity, leading to an increased level of Cdk inhibition. This assumption is supported by the finding that ectopic overexpression of p21 in a human astrocytoma cell line, U-373MG, led to a marked decrease in Cdk2 activity (Chen et al. 1996). Theoretically, increased Cdk inhibition would in turn result in an increased level of binding of E2F1 by hypophosphorylated Rb protein. Since overexpression of E2F1 is known to enhance p53-dependent apoptosis (Wu and Levine 1994), the reduction in levels of available E2F1, consequent to p21 overexpression, may be postulated to impede p53-dependent apoptosis.

Such a mechanism, linking p21 overexpression to blocked apoptosis, would provide a model capable of explaining the radioresistance seen in GBMs which overexpress p21, a group including more than half of the *de novo* GBMs. Such a mechanism may also explain the astounding absence of p21 mutations, observed not only in GBMs but in all human tumours (Koopmann et al. 1995); in the absence of p21dependent inhibition of Cdk, excessive levels of unbound E2F1 would be permitted to accumulate, rendering the cell prone to apoptosis. In other words, the presence of a p21 mutation would prove fatal to the cell. In support of this theory, an enhancement of apoptosis has been shown in p21-null fibroblasts (Brown et al. 1997). Furthermore, p21 has been shown to protect from apoptosis in differentiating myocytes (Wang and Walsh 1996) and neuroblastoma cells (Poluha et al. 1996). Clearly, futher work, including verification of the E2F1 status in GBM cells where p21 is overexpressed, is necessary in order to substantiate this hypothesis.

p21 certainly warrants further investigation as a possible prognostic factor. If p21 overexpression does indeed correlate with radioresistance, then it would be of particular benefit to be able to identify those patients in which p21 levels are normal, since radiotherapy is likely to be particularly beneficial in these cases. If the overexpression of p21 is confirmed to block apoptosis, this would provide a number of new therapeutic avenues to explore. For example, can introduction of exogenous E2F1 into GBM cells enhance apoptosis induced by irradiation? Likewise, p21 antisense treatment of GBM tumour cells might be able to restore the balance in favour of apoptosis.

What mechanisms lead to p21 overexpression? p21 overexpression might be speculated to be a consequence of the increased p53 protein expression frequently observed in GBMs. In this series of *in vitro* glial tumours, however, no significant correlation between p21 and p53 overexpression was detectable. Given the relatively small size of this study, investigation of p21 overexpression and p53 protein stabilisation in a larger series would perhaps cast a different light on this postulate.

The observation of marked basal expression of p21 in the p53-null GBM cell line raises the possibility that p53-independent mechanisms of p21 induction also exist in GBMs. Although the activation of p21 after DNA damage has been shown to be a p53-dependent process (el-Deiry et al. 1994), basal p21 expression has been shown in p53-null SaOS-2 cells to be induced independently of p53 following oxidative stress (Russo et al. 1995). p53-independent mechanisms of p21 activation, perhaps consequent to oxidative stress, merit further investigation in GBMs.

6.2.3 The response of p21 to irradiation

An obvious outstanding question is why do the irradiated GBM cells not manage to arrest in G1 phase of the cell cycle? On considering this issue, it is clear that the p21 response to irradiation in GBM cells *in vitro* falls into two categories. In those cultures where minimal basal p21 expression was manifest, induction of p21 mRNA was invariably achieved after irradiation but G1 arrest failed nonetheless. Irradiation of cultures with basal p21 overexpression failed to achieve p21 induction in more than 90%, and no G1 checkpoint halt was achieved. The implications arising from these two different responses to irradiation in GBM cells will be considered in the next section.

6.2.3.1 G1 checkpoint failure despite p21 induction

In 45% of the investigated *de novo* GBM cultures, significant induction of p21 occurred after irradiation. Despite p21 induction, however, not one of these cell cultures achieved an arrest at the G1 checkpoint. This implies that a defect downstream from p21 occurs in this sub-group of *de novo* GBMs.

A possible candidate is the *RB* gene which is deleted in approximately 30% of GBMs (Henson et al. 1994). In the absence of Rb protein, the regulatory influence of p21 on Rb is redundant and the transcription factor E2F1 remains fully unbound, free to effect immediate passage into the S phase. Thus, G1 arrest is not possible. Since the percentage of GBMs demonstrating failure of G1 arrest despite p21 induction approximates quantitatively to the fraction suffering *RB* deletion, further investigation is required to establish whether *RB* is indeed deleted in this sub-group of *de novo* GBMs.

But although a deficit of Rb function would certainly explain the abrogation of G1 arrest after irradiation in GBMs with adequate p21 induction, it fails to explain the radioresistance of these tumours. As previously discussed, loss of Rb function should infact enhance the apoptotic response to irradiation (Morgenbesser et al. 1994). Can it be true that *RB* deletion actually carries a favourable prognosis in GBM? Such a correlate has certainly not been noted in the literature. It is more probable that a defect in the apoptotic pathway co-exists with *RB* alteration in GBMs. For example, were hyperphosphorylation of bad, discussed in Section 6.1, transpire to be a feature of GBMs with *EGFR* amplifications, the combined effect of *RB* deletion and *EGFR* amplification would account for both failure of G1 arrest and radioresistance.

Clearly, such a scenario contrasts starkly to that where p21 overexpression is postulated to impede apoptosis in GBMs. The latter mechanism is dependent on the expression of Rb protein, which 'kidnaps' E2F1. Therefore, it is important establish whether *RB* deletion and p21 overexpression are mutually exclusive in this series of GBM cultures.

A further relevant candidate capable of disrupting the G1 checkpoint despite adequate p21 induction, is the INK4 family member, p16. Deletion of p16 is reported in approximately two thirds of *de novo* GBMs (Biernat et al. 1997). In parallel to p21, activated p16 inhibits Cdk2 and Cdk4 (see Figure 2.4). p16 is not, however, p53-

dependent and is not thought to play a direct role in the response to irradiation. A crucial outstanding question is whether p16 is essential for G1 arrest. If parallel p16 activation were necessary for a halt at the G1 checkpoint, then p16 deletion could account for failure of G1 arrest, despite adequate activation of p21 after irradiation.

6.2.3.2 Failure of the G1 checkpoint and of p21 induction

The G1 checkpoint failed in the *in vitro* GBMs in which p21 was not activated after irradiation in all but one case. In none of the secondary GBM cultures investigated was p21 induction effected. In approximately half of the *de novo* GBM cultures, induction of p21 after irradiation failed, concurring in each case with basal p21 overexpression..Overall, in GBM cultures with basal p21 overexpression, irradiation failed to increase p21 expression in more than 90% of cases and, of these, irradiation led to a marked reduction in p21 mRNA levels in more than 60 %.

These results help to explain the paradoxical failure of G1 arrest after irradiation in the subgroup of GBMs overexpressing p21, since a reduction in p21 levels occurs after irradiation in more than 60 % of the subgroup. Trancriptional repression of p21 after irradiation presumably results in the release of E2F1, forcing the cells to forego the G1 checkpoint, despite the abundant basal expression of p21.

Failure of p21 activation in the secondary GBMs studied *in vitro* is readily explicable on the basis of their p53 mutational status, as indicated by SSCP analysis. The finding that p21 induction after irradiation fails in approximately half of the investigated *de novo* GBM cultures, despite the presence of wt p53, however, provides convincing evidence of a profound defect at or upstream from the level of p53 in this subgroup of *de novo* GBMs. Although a parallel reduction of p53 protein was observed in 6 out of the 10 glial cultures in which p21 levels fell after irradiation, no statistically significant correlation was revealed on analysis by the Fisher's Exact Test. Given the relatively small numbers of tumour cultures investigated, a larger study to clarify this issue is warranted.

6.3 p53 protein

The results discussed so far have shown that p53 function is defective not only in secondary GBMs, where it is mutated, but also in *de novo* GBMs which bear wt p53. The failed activation of p53's downstream target genes *WAF1*, encoding p21, and *BAX*, observed in a significant proportion of irradiated *de novo* GBM cultures, provides convincing evidence to this effect. Since the defect in p53 function does not lie within the p53 gene in *de novo* GBMs, perhaps the p53 protein itself is defective. The next section will consider the results from the investigated *in vitro* glial tumours with regard to the p53 protein.

6.3.1 p53 protein stabilisation

wt p53 is not normally detected by Western blot analysis because the half-life of wt p53 protein is very short, while mutant p53 protein, which has a longer half-life, is frequently detectable. p53 protein in its wt form, however, is detected by Western blot analysis in approximately 60% of *de novo* GBM tumour material (Anker et al. 1993, Rubio et al. 1993). The finding of detectable wt p53 protein is indicative of an abnormally prolonged half-life and consequent stabilisation of wt p53 in these *de novo* GBMs.

In this study, investigation of p53 expression by Western blotting revealed a pronounced accumulation of p53 protein in the GBM cell lines LN 229 and LN 18, and absent p53 protein in LN Z308. Detection of p53 protein in the mutant p53 cell line LN 18 was to be expected. The pronounced expression of p53 in LN 229, however, represents a stabilisation of wt p53 protein. Investigation of the GBM primary cultures showed increased expression of p53 protein in half of the tumours with mutational p53 SSCP band shifts. p53 protein was moderately to very strongly detectable in up to 70% of the cultures in which a wt p53 SSCP pattern had been demonstrated. These results indicate that wt p53 protein stabilisation occurs in approximately 70% of the investigated *de novo* GBM cultures.

What possible mechanisms might lead to stabilisation of wt p53 protein in *de novo* GBMs and what significance does stabilised p53 protein have for the GBM cell? In considering this question, the identification of splice variants of mdm2, the negative regulator of p53, may have some bearing.

6.3.2 The significance of mdm2 splice variants

Our results show that short mdm2 splice variants are expressed in approximately half of this series of human glial tumours *in vitro*. In particular, mdm2 spliced transcripts were found in approximately 60% of the glial tumour primary cultures bearing wt p53. Sequencing of the splice variants demonstrated a splicing which disrupted the p53 binding domain of the mdm2 protein. Furthermore, a significant correlation between the presence of mdm2 splice variants and increased expression of wt p53 protein was determined (Fisher's Exact Test, p<0.01).

Although the phenomenon of wt p53 protein stabilisation has long been noted in *de novo* GBMs, the mechanism by which the half-life of wt p53 is prolonged is still unclear. It has been shown recently that mdm2 directly instigates p53 protein degradation when their multimeric complexes are bound via the p53 binding domain in the amino terminal of mdm2 (Haupt et al. 1997). Thus, the quantitative molecular ratio between p53 and mdm2 is of importance in determining the half-life of p53. In 8-10% of glioblastomas with wt p53, *MDM2* is amplified and mdm2 protein is overexpressed (Biernat et al. 1997). Given the consequent shift in the molecular ratio, one would expect that *MDM2* amplification would exclude accumulation of wt p53 protein. In this study, however, it was shown that *MDM2* amplification coincided with wt p53 protein stabilisation in the GBM primary culture G116 and cell line LN 229. Both these cultures also express alternatively spliced mdm2 transcripts, deficient in their p53 binding domain. Is the paradox of wt p53 protein stabilisation coincident with amplified *MDM2* perhaps explained by the finding that mdm2 is alternatively spliced in these *in vitro* GBMs?

On consideration of the results presented here, the constellation of p53 status, *MDM2* status and presence of spliced mdm2 transcripts is able to provide a feasible explanation for the finding of stabilised p53 protein, particularly that of wt form. In those GBMs bearing wt p53 and amplified *MDM2* (LN 229, G116 and G117), one would expect increased degradation of p53 protein in view of the amplification in *MDM2*. Hence, one would not expect to find detectable p53 in the Western blot. This is indeed the case for G117. G116 and LN 229, however, display marked p53 protein expression, which coincides with the presence of mdm2 splice variants. Since the mdm2 splice variants lack their p53 binding domain and are thus prevented from instigating

p53 protein degradation, the degradative effect of overexpressed mdm2 on p53 is theoretically counteracted by the generation of these splices. G117 displays no spliced mdm2 variants and thus does not escape p53 protein degradation.

Likewise, in *de novo* GBMs without *MDM2* amplification, pronounced stabilisation of wt p53 protein was observed where short mdm2 splice variants were also expressed, with only one exception (G148). In the absence of excessive p53 protein degradation by overexpressed mdm2, a spliced variant of mdm2 would be predicted to achieve a greater stabilising influence. Accordingly, the observed quantitative differences in the extent of wt p53 protein accumulation appear to relate to the presence or absence of *MDM2* amplification. For example, particularly pronounced wt p53 expression was detected in G139, where a spliced mdm2 transcript was present in the absence of *MDM2* amplification. In contrast, G116, which does bear *MDM2* amplification, displayed a lesser degree of wt p53 protein accumulation.

Spliced mdm2 transcripts did not occur exclusively in the presence of an intact p53 gene. LN18, in which p53 is mutated, displayed a spliced mdm2 transcript and marked stabilisation of p53 protein. However, mutant p53 protein was also stabilised in the absence of mdm2 splice variants, for example in G101 and G109, presumably as a result of the inherent stability of the mutant protein.

Since p53 itself induces mdm2, one might postulate that p53 influences the splicing mechanism. This is supported by the observation that mdm2 splices are not generated when p53 is absent (LN Z308). Furthermore, when at least one wt p53 allele is present (LN 18) alternative splicing of mdm2 appears to be possible and splice variants of mdm2 are particularly frequent (up to 60% of cases) where the p53 gene remains intact.

If, as this suggests, p53 does bear some control over the ability to alternatively splice mdm2, one is bound to ask whether mdm2 splice variants confer an advantage to the cell. An accumulation of wt p53 protein in a tumour cell might increase its chances of either effecting DNA repair or initiating apoptosis and thus combating the tumorigenic process. Evidence that accumulated wt p53 protein does have a biological effect was provided by adenovirus-mediated transfer of wt p53 into glioma cells with consequent increased expression of wt p53 protein (Gomez Manzano et al. 1996). In glioma cells bearing endogenous mutant p53 the effect of wt p53 protein accumulation

was induction of apoptosis, whereas those glioma cells with intact p53 exhibited marked inhibition of cellular proliferation. Perhaps in GBM cells wt p53 attempts to upregulate itself, particularly when threatened by an amplification in *MDM2*, by generating spliced transcripts of mdm2, deficient in their p53 binding domain, which consequently permit p53 accumulation.

Full length mdm2 is known to be oncogenic, exerting multiple pro-proliferative effects, as previously discussed. Studies in which p53-/ pRb- human osteosarcoma (SaOS-2) cells were transfected with truncated forms of mdm2 identified the minimum essential transforming region of mdm2 to be the p53 binding domain (Dubs Poterszman et al. 1995). Thus, spliced mdm2 transcripts which lack this binding domain could be postulated to lose their transforming potential, supporting the hypothesis that these isoforms have a protective role in the cell.

Conversely, another group has correlated the presence of short mdm2 splice variants in ovarian and bladder carcinoma with malignancy and furthermore has demonstrated that the splices have malignant transformation potential in NIH 3T3 cells (Sigalas et al. 1996). This raises the question of whether the alternative splicing of mdm2, putative leading to p53 protein stabilisation, is detrimental to the cell. Were the sequence of events confirmed to lead from alternative mdm2 splicing to p53 protein accumulation and hence to p21 overexpression, one might speculate that mdm2 splicing constitutes a tumorigenic mechanism.

The hypothesis formulated here that alternative splicing of mdm2 results in wt p53 protein stabilisation is supported by all the reported results except for the *de novo* GBM culture G148, in which marked stabilisation of wt p53 protein was found in the absence of a mdm2 splice variant. This suggests that p53 stability is also dependent on other regulatory mechanisms. Of possible relevance is the recent report that the *INK4* gene product, p19^{ARF}, blocks mdm2-dependent p53 protein degradation (Zhang et al. 1998, Pomerantz et al. 1998). Thus, p19^{ARF} acts to increase levels of p53 protein in the cell by inhibiting mdm2 function. The interaction between p19^{ARF} and mdm2 appears to occur directly at the carboxy terminal of the mdm2 protein and promotes mdm2 degradation. Since the p19^{ARF} -encoding gene region, which shares its second and third exons with p16, is commonly deleted in GBM, a loss of p19^{ARF} infact arises in GBMs. This in itself would not explain wt p53 protein accumulation, since deletion of p19^{ARF}

would be expected to enhance p53 protein degradation, but does indicate that multiple parallel pathways are probably involved in controlling p53 stability.

6.3.3 Degradation of stabilised p53 protein after irradiation

In almost 90 % of glial tumour primary cultures with increased basal p53 protein expression, irradiation led to a marked reduction in the protein level. This suggests that irradiation stimulated degradation of the stabilised p53 protein.

What mechanism might account for the radiation-induced degradation of p53 protein? Since the basal expression of mdm2 can be seen from the results to be appreciable, post-translational modification of the mdm2 protein after irradiation could rapidly activate its ability to degrade p53 protein. Furthermore, p19^{ARF} normally inhibits mdm2 activity (Zhang et al. 1998, Pomerantz et al. 1998). The *INK4* gene locus, which encodes p19^{ARF}, is commonly deleted in GBMs (Schlegel et al. 1996). Thus, in the absence of its own negative regulator, mdm2 may be primed to be particularly aggressive in its attack on p53 in such GBMs.

In summary, p53 protein in GBM cultures has been shown to behave abnormally, not only where it is mutated, but also where a wt gene is present, as in *de novo* GBM cultures. Therefore, these findings support the hypothesis that presence of an intact p53 gene in GBMs is not synonymous with normal p53 function. The significance of wt p53 stabilisation is still unclear. It may represent a rescue attempt within the tumour cell, with the aim of promoting cell cycle control and apoptosis, but then why is it rapidly degraded after irradiation? Conversely, stabilisation of wt p53 protein might constitute a tumorigenic mechanism, inducing p21 overexpression and consequently impeding apoptosis. Such speculations merit further investigation.

6.4 Radiosensitivity and the G2/M checkpoint

In vitro GBMs have been shown in this study to respond to ionising radiation with a G2/M arrest in up to 80% of cases, regardless of their p53 status. This finding demonstrates that entry into the G2/M checkpoint is controlled independently of G1 arrest in GBM cells, and in particular that it is a p53-independent event.

In contrast to G1 arrest, maximal G2 arrest does not correlate with radiosensitivity (McIlwrath et al. 1994) but rather with radioresistance (McKenna et al. 1991). In fact, it has been shown that irradiation-induced apoptosis correlates positively with the brevity of the G2 arrest (Yao et al. 1996, Powell et al. 1995). Shortening the duration of G2 arrest by treatment with caffeine, which activates Cdc2, results in a sensitisation of p53-deficient tumour cells to irradiation. Thus, the pronounced G2/M arrest observed in the irradiated GBMs *in vitro* may contribute to the radioresistance of the tumours.

p53 has been shown to be responsible for accelerating the exit from G2 arrest (Guillouf et al. 1995), whereas cells lacking wt p53 display a pronounced delay in G2 after exposure to irradiation (Metting and Little 1995). Thus, p53 may actually have the effect of terminating G2 arrest. Perhaps this provides a hint that the G2/M checkpoint is the spring board to p53-mediated apoptosis; G1 arrest provides the opportunity to repair DNA damage. This does not exclude the possibility that damage, particularly if severe, persists into the subsequent phases of the cell cycle. DNA damage would certainly persist if G1 arrest fails altogether. In this scenario the cell arrests at the G2/M checkpoint. If at this point active p53 is present, it terminates the G2 arrest and initiates apoptosis. In the absence of active p53, G2 arrest is maintained until repair is completed, signalled by the disappearance of ATM. This raises the question of whether the pronounced reduction in stabilised p53 protein, seen in many of the GBM primary cultures after irradiation, strands the GBM cell in G2/M arrest, thus contributing to radioresistance.

The model described here would be consistent with the finding that apoptosis can occur in the absence of G1 arrest, and relies on the fact that initiation of G2/M arrest is independent of p53. It would probably rely on the existence of differential p53 activation states, since on one hand p53 has to be inactivated before the cell can exit G1 arrest, but on the other hand, active p53 terminates subsequent G2/M arrest and commits the cell to apoptosis. This is difficult to tie together unless p53 has differing

activation states, dependent on the type of DNA damage or means of activation.

In support of this is the observation that ATM-independent activation of p53 by irradiation does not result in either normal p21 activation or G1 arrest, but does induce bax, resulting in apoptosis (Barlow et al. 1997). This implies that distinct, differentially activated p53 forms exist to provide the switch mechanism between DNA repair and apoptosis. A stumbling block in this argument is the finding that AT cells, deficient in ATM, fail to arrest in both G1 and G2/M, but can still apoptose after irradiation (Jorgensen and Shiloh 1996). This raises the question whether either of the two main cell cycle checkpoints are necessary for committment to apoptosis. Such vital questions remain to be answered.

6.5 Limitations to *in vitro* studies of glial tumours

In order to improve our understanding of the dynamic molecular responses operative in human tumours, *in vitro* studies play an important role and yield valuable results. The response of tumour cells *in vitro*, however, cannot be assumed to be representative of the *in vivo* situation.

This project has attempted to minimise the *in vitro* and *in vivo* differences by studying glial tumour primary cell cultures in early passages. The genetic and molecular characteristics of tumour cells are believed to be increasingly altered by repeated cell passaging. The glial tumour primary cultures studied here demonstrated relatively slow growth kinetics and marked cellular polymorphy, suggestive of polyclonality. In contrast, the GBM cell lines investigated in parallel were highly monomorphic, implying that they had undergone monoclonal selection during the course of repeated passaging. Accordingly, the primary cultures were used for all experiments within the first four passages in order to provide an *in vitro* system which at least reflects the *in vivo* tumour biology more closely than can established cell lines.

The *de novo* group of GBMs are characterised genetically by amplification in *EGFR* and absence of p53 mutation. Thus, in order to fully confirm the tumour classification in the investigated series, the *EGFR* status would have provided valuable information. The investigation of GBM primary cultures has a specific limitation, however, since the amplification of *EGFR* is known to be eliminated within the first *in*

vitro passage. Because it occurs so rapidly, this appears to be an active process (Bigner et al. 1990), but the mechanism is not understood. Thus, determination of *EGFR* amplification within primary cell cultures of GBMs is not directly possible. Unfortunately neither frozen tumour material nor normal tissue from the patients in this series was available to permit either direct analysis of *EGFR* or LOH studies.

As discussed in the Introduction, amplification of *EGFR* in GBMs co-exists with chromosome 10 aberrations, including chromosome 10 monosomy (Leenstra et al. 1994). *PTEN* has been identified as a candidate tumour suppressor gene on chromosome 10 (Li et al. 1997, Steck et al. 1997) and has been postulated to reflect *EGFR* status in GBMs. Within the scope of a parallel project in the same department, *PTEN* status is currently being investigated in this series of glial tumour primary cultures.

6.6 The way ahead

The results from this project have shed some light on possible mechanisms of radioresistance in GBMs. The GBM cells respond to irradiation with failed apoptosis, failed G1 arrest but pronounced G2/M arrest. Since the profile of absent G1 arrest and a long G2/M arrest has been shown, on both counts, to correlate with radioresistance, it is important to establish in these cultures why G1 arrest fails and why G2/M arrest is so pronounced.

In secondary GBMs, the loss of p53 function arising from mutation accounts for the aberrant irradiation response. But it is clear that, even in those GBMs with wt p53, the *de novo* GBMs, the p53 response is dysfunctional. In a little more than half of these cases the defect appears to lie at or above the level of p53, since induction of p21 and bax after irradiation fails. Whether stabilised wt p53 protein has a role to play in this abnormal response requires investigation. In the remaining *de novo* GBMs, G1 arrest fails despite induction of p21, suggestive of a downstream defect, perhaps at the Cdk-Rb level. Whether deficits in Rb function account for these cases merits further study.

The results have also highlighted possible mechanisms by which apoptosis may be impeded. The overexpression of p21 which occurs in over two thirds of GBM cells *in vitro* may be of particular importance, as a result of its inhibitory influence on the

pro-apoptotic transcription factor E2F1. The means by which E2F1 exerts this effect are unknown. In view of the finding that anti-apoptotic members of the bcl-2 family are upregulated independently of p53 in the GBM cell line LN Z308 after irradiation, a search for novel bcl-2 family regulators may be merited. In GBM cells where p21 overexpression is not manifest, urgent questions as to the status of the apoptotic regulator bad, and its possible connection to *EGFR* amplification, arise. This highlights the probable importance of post-translational modification as a means of regulation of the p53 response, in addition to the transcriptional control which has been investigated in this project.

Thus, the way forward has become a little more evident. The application of this information to the benefit of the patient, however, remains the ultimate- and perhaps most difficult- challenge.

7. SUMMARY

Malignant human glial tumours bear a grave prognosis. The average survival time of patients diagnosed with the most malignant of the glial tumours, glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), is only one year (Kleihues and Cavanee 1997). Although adjuvant radiotherapy is of proven benefit, its effect is limited. A clearer understanding of the cellular response to ionising radiation, particularly the molecular mechanisms by which tumour cells evade apoptosis, is pivotal to the development of new therapeutic strategies for GBM.

GBMs can be divided into at least two subgroups. Secondary GBMs bear a mutation in the tumour suppressor gene p53, while *de novo* GBMs are characterised by amplification of the *EGFR* gene and deletion of chromosome 10. The mechanisms leading to radioresistance and genetic instability in secondary GBMs can be directly related to their loss of p53 function, consequent to mutation. The equally pronounced genetic instability and radioresistance seen in *de novo* GBMs, however, cannot be accounted for by their characteristic genetic alterations, which bear no reported signalling connection to apoptotic pathways. Instead, the radioresistance of *de novo* GBMs indicates that, inspite of the presence of wt p53, the p53 pathway is defective in these GBMs.

The hypothesis that the presence of a wt p53 gene is not synonymous with normal p53 function in *de novo* GBMs forms the crux of the study presented here. The aim was to identify candidate sites of defective regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis in *de novo* GBMs by comparing their molecular response to ionising radiation with that of othe glial tumours, particularly the secondary GBMs.

Molecular characterisation of glial tumour primary cultures has demonstrated frequencies of p53 SSCP band shifts, increased basal p53 protein expression and *MDM2* amplification similar to those reported in the literature for GBM tumour material (Kouzarides 1995, Biernat et al. 1997). Novel short spliced transcripts of mdm2, the negative regulator of p53, have been identified in both the GBM primary cultures and cell lines. Investigation of the effects of ionising irradiation on GBMs *in vitro* has revealed that significant apoptosis does not occur, G1 arrest fails in more than 90% of cases but the G2/M checkpoint is successfully instigated in the majority. p21 overexpression has been identified in both secondary and *de novo* GBM cultures. In

those cultures with basally overexpressed p21, irradiation failed to induce p21 and failure in G1 arrest ensued. Despite adequate induction of p21 in up to half of *de novo* GBMs after irradiation, G1 arrest was not achieved.

The results from this project have shed light on possible mechanisms of radioresistance in GBMs. In secondary GBMs, the loss of p53 function arising from mutation accounts for the aberrant irradiation response. But it is clear that, even in those GBMs with wt p53, the *de novo* GBMs, the p53 response is dysfunctional. In a little more than half of these cases the defect appears to lie at or above the level of p53, since induction of p21 and bax after irradiation fails. Whether stabilised wt p53 protein has a role to play in this abnormal response requires investigation in a larger series of tumours. The identification of short alternatively spliced mdm2 transcripts, deficient in their p53 binding site, which correlate significantly with increased basal expression of p53 protein, suggests that mdm2 splice variants may be responsible at least in part for wt p53 protein stabilisation in *de novo* GBMs. In the remaining *de novo* GBMs, G1 arrest fails despite induction of p21, suggestive of a downstream defect, perhaps at the Cdk-Rb level, which needs to be further investigated.

The results have also highlighted possible mechanisms by which apoptosis may be impeded. The overexpression of p21 which occurs in over two thirds of GBM cells *in vitro* may be of particular importance, as a result of its inhibitory influence on the pro-apoptotic transcription factor E2F1. The means by which E2F1 exerts its effect on apoptosis are unknown. In view of the finding that anti-apoptotic members of the bcl-2 family are upregulated independently of p53 in the GBM cell line LN Z308 after irradiation, a search for novel bcl-2 family regulators is merited. In GBM cells where p21 overexpression is not manifest, urgent questions as to the status of the apoptotic regulator bad, and its possible connection to *EGFR* amplification via the c-AKT signalling pathway, arise.

In summary, p53 protein in GBM cultures has been shown to behave abnormally, not only where it is mutated, but also in the presence of wt p53 in *de novo* GBM cultures. Therefore, these findings support the hypothesis that presence of an intact p53 gene in GBMs is not synonymous with normal p53 function. In particular, the finding of aberrant p21 expression in more than half of *de novo* GBMs may be of prognostic value and may possibly provide new therapeutic targets for enhancing the effect of radiotherapy in patients suffering from this distressing condition.

8. **REFERENCES**

- Anker, L., Ohgaki, H., Ludeke, B.I., Herrmann, H.D., Kleihues, P. and Westphal, M. p53 protein accumulation and gene mutations in human glioma cell lines. Int J Cancer. 55: 982-7, 1993.
- Baker, S.J., Fearon, E.R., Nigro, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., vanTuinen, P., Ledbetter, D.H., Barker, D.F., Nakamura, Y. and et al. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science. 244: 217-21, 1989.
- Barlow, C., Brown, K.D., Deng, C.X., Tagle, D.A. and Wynshaw-Boris, A. Atm selectively regulates distinct p53-dependent cell-cycle checkpoint and apoptotic pathways. Nat Genet. *17:* 453-6, 1997.
- Baskaran, R., Wood, L.D., Whitaker, L.L., Canman, C.E., Morgan, S.E., Xu, Y., Barlow, C., Baltimore, D., Wynshaw Boris, A., Kastan, M.B. and Wang, J.Y. Ataxia telangiectasia mutant protein activates c-Abl tyrosine kinase in response to ionizing radiation [see comments]. Nature. 387: 516-9, 1997.
- Baxendine-Jones, J., Campbell, I. and Ellison, D. p53 status has no prognostic significance in glioblastomas treated with radiotherapy. Clin Neuropathol. *16*: 332-6, 1997.
- Biernat, W., Kleihues, P., Yonekawa, Y. and Ohgaki, H. Amplification and overexpression of MDM2 in primary (de novo) glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 56: 180-5, 1997.
- Biernat, W., Tohma, Y., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P. and Ohgaki, H. Alterations of cell cycle regulatory genes in primary (de novo) and secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 94: 303-9, 1997.
- Bigner, S.H., Humphrey, P.A., Wong, A.J., Vogelstein, B., Mark, J., Friedman, H.S. and Bigner, D.D. Characterization of the epidermal growth factor receptor in human glioma cell lines and xenografts. Cancer Res. *50*: 8017 - 8022, 1990.
- 9. Bogler, O., Huang, H.J., Kleihues, P. and Cavenee, W.K. The p53 gene and its role in human brain tumors. Glia. *15:* 308-27, 1995.
- Boise, L.H., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Postema, C.H., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Turka,
 L.A., Mao, X., Nunez, G. and Thompson, C. bcl-x, a bcl-2-related gene that

functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. cell. 74: 597 - 608, 1993.

- Brown, J.P., Wei, W. and Sedivy, J.M. Bypass of senescence after disruption of p21CIP1/WAF1 gene in normal diploid human fibroblasts. Science. 277: 831-4, 1997.
- Brown, K.D., Ziv, Y., Sadanandan, S.N., Chessa, L., Collins, F.S., Shiloh, Y. and Tagle, D.A. The ataxia-telangiectasia gene product, a constitutively expressed nuclear protein that is not up-regulated following genome damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94: 1840-5, 1997.
- Brugarolas, J., Chandrasekaran, C., Gordon, J.I., Beach, D., Jacks, T. and Hannon, G.J. Radiation-induced cell cycle arrest compromised by p21 deficiency. Nature. *377:* 552-7, 1995.
- 14. Burger, P.C. and Green, S.B. Patient age, histologic features, and length of survival in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer. *59*: 1617-25, 1987.
- Caelles, C., Helmberg, A. and Karin, M. p53-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcriptional activation of p53-target genes [see comments]. Nature. *370:* 220-3, 1994.
- Campomenosi, P., Ottaggio, L., Moro, F., Urbini, S., Bogliolo, M., Zunino, A., Camoriano, A., Inga, A., Gentile, S.L., Pellegata, N.S., Bonassi, S., Bruzzone, E., Iannone, R., Pisani, R., Menichini, P., Ranzani, G.N., Bonatti, S., Abbondandolo, A. and Fronza, G. Study on aneuploidy and p53 mutations in astrocytomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 88: 95-102, 1996.
- Chen, J., Marechal, V. and Levine, A.J. Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. Mol Cell Biol. *13*: 4107-14, 1993.
- Chen, J., Willingham, T., Shuford, M., Bruce, D., Rushing, E., Smith, Y. and Nisen, P. Effects of ectopic overexpression of p21(WAF1/CIP1) on aneuploidy and the malignant phenotype of human brain tumour cells. Oncogene. *13:* 1395-1403, 1996.
- 19. Chen, L., Marechal, V., Moreau, J., Levine, A.J. and Chen, J. Proteolytic cleavage of the mdm2 oncoprotein during apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 272: 22966-73, 1997.
- Cho, Y., Gorina, S., Jeffrey, P.D. and Pavletich, N.P. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations [see comments]. Science. 265: 346-55, 1994.

- Clore, G.M., Omichinski, J.G., Sakaguchi, K., Zambrano, N., Sakamoto, H., Appella, E. and Gronenborn, A.M. High-resolution structure of the oligomerization domain of p53 by multidimensional NMR [see comments] [published erratum appears in Science 1995 Mar 10;267(5203):1515]. Science. 265: 386-91, 1994.
- 22. Codd, M.B. and Kurland, L.T. Descriptive epidemiology of primary intracranial neoplasms. Prog Exp Tumor Res. *29:* 1-11, 1985.
- Cross, S.M., Sanchez, C.A., Morgan, C.A., Schimke, M.K., Ramel, S., Idzerda, R.L., Raskind, W.H. and Reid, B.J. A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. Science. 267: 1353-6, 1995.
- Datta, S.R., Dudek, H., Tao, X., Masters, S., Fu, H., Gotoh, Y. and Greenberg, M.E. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. Cell. *91*: 231-241, 1997.
- DeLeo, A.B., Jay, G., Appella, E., Dubois, G.C., Law, L.W. and Old, L.J. Detection of a transformation-related antigen in chemically induced sarcomas and other transformed cells of the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. *76:* 2420-4, 1979.
- Deng, C., Zhang, P., Harper, J.W., Elledge, S.J. and Leder, P. Mice lacking p21CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. Cell. 82: 675-84, 1995.
- Dubs Poterszman, M.C., Tocque, B. and Wasylyk, B. MDM2 transformation in the absence of p53 and abrogation of the p107 G1 cell-cycle arrest. Oncogene. *11:* 2445-9, 1995.
- Dulic, V., Kaufmann, W.K., Wilson, S.J., Tolsty, T.D., Lees, E., Harper, J.W., Elledge, S.J. and Reed, S.I. p53-dependent inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase activities in human fibroblasts during radiation-induced G1 arrest. Cell. 76: 1013-23, 1994.
- 29. Dutta, A., Ruppert, J.M., Aster, J.C. and Winchester, E. Inhibition of DNA replication factor RPA by p53 [see comments]. Nature. *365:* 79-82, 1993.
- el-Deiry, W.S., Harper, J.W., PM, O.C., Velculescu, V.E., Canman, C.E., Jackman, J., Pietenpol, J.A., Burrell, M., Hill, D.E., Wang, Y. and et al. WAF1/CIP1 is induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. Cancer Res. 54: 1169-74, 1994.

- el-Deiry, W.S., Tokino, T., Velculescu, V.E., Levy, D.B., Parsons, R., Trent, J.M., Lin, D., Mercer, W.E., Kinzler, K.W. and Vogelstein, B. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. Cell. 75: 817-25, 1993.
- Eliyahu, D., Michalovitz, D., Eliyahu, S., Pinhasi-Kimhi, O. and Oren, M. Wildtype p53 can inhibit oncogene-mediated focus formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 86: 8763-7, 1989.
- Eliyahu, D., Raz, A., Gruss, P., Givol, D. and Oren, M. Participation of p53 cellular tumour antigen in transformation of normal embryonic cells. Nature. *312*: 646-9, 1984.
- Elledge, S.J. Cell cycle checkpoints: preventing an identity crisis. Science. 274: 1664-72, 1996.
- Ellis, R.E., Yuan, J.Y. and Horvitz, H.R. Mechanisms and functions of cell death. Annu Rev Cell Biol. 7: 663-98, 1991.
- 36. Enari, M., Sakahira, H., Yokoyama, H., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A. and Nagata, S. A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD [see comments]. Nature. *391:* 43-50, 1998.
- Enoch, T. and Norbury, C. Cellular responses to DNA damage: cell-cycle checkpoints, apoptosis and the roles of p53 and ATM. Trends Biochem Sci. 20: 426-30, 1995.
- Erhardt, P., Tomaselli, K.J. and Cooper, G.M. Identification of the MDM2 oncoprotein as a substrate for CPP32-like apoptotic proteases. J Biol Chem. 272: 15049-52, 1997.
- Fakharzadeh, S.S., Trusko, S.P. and George, D.L. Tumorigenic potential associated with enhanced expression of a gene that is amplified in a mouse tumor cell line. Embo J. *10*: 1565-9, 1991.
- Fan, S., el Deiry, W.S., Bae, I., Freeman, J., Jondle, D., Bhatia, K., Fornace, A.J., Jr., Magrath, I., Kohn, K.W. and PM, O.C. p53 gene mutations are associated with decreased sensitivity of human lymphoma cells to DNA damaging agents. Cancer Res. 54: 5824-30, 1994.
- 41. Fults, D., Pedone, C.A., Thomas, G.A. and White, R. Allelotype of human malignant astrocytoma. Cancer Res. *50:* 5784-9, 1990.
- Furnari, B., Rhind, N. and Russell, P. Cdc25 mitotic inducer targeted by Chk1 DNA damage checkpoint kinase. Science. 277: 1495-1497, 1997.

- 43. Gomez Manzano, C., Fueyo, J., Kyritsis, A.P., Steck, P.A., Roth, J.A., McDonnell, T.J., Steck, K.D., Levin, V.A. and Yung, W.K. Adenovirus-mediated transfer of the p53 gene produces rapid and generalized death of human glioma cells via apoptosis. Cancer Res. 56: 694-9, 1996.
- Guadagno, T.M., Ohtsubo, M., Roberts, J.M. and Assoian, R.K. A link between cyclin A expression and adhesion-dependent cell cycle progression [published erratum appears in Science 1994 Jan 28;263(5146):455]. Science. 262: 1572-5, 1993.
- Guillouf, C., Rosselli, F., Krishnaraju, K., Moustacchi, E., Hoffman, B. and Liebermann, D.A. p53 involvement in control of G2 exit of the cell cycle: role in DNA damage-induced apoptosis. Oncogene. *10:* 2263-70, 1995.
- 46. Hainaut, P. and Milner, J. Redox modulation of p53 conformation and sequencespecific DNA binding in vitro. Cancer Res. *53:* 4469-73, 1993.
- 47. Hannon, G.J. and Beach, D. p15ink4b is a potential effector of Tgf-beta-induced cell cycle arrest [see comments]. Nature. *371:* 257-61, 1994.
- Haupt, Y., Maya, R., Kazaz, A. and Oren, M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 387: 296-9, 1997.
- 49. Haupt, Y., Rowan, S. and Oren, M. p53-mediated apoptosis in HeLa cells can be overcome by excess pRb. Oncogene. *10:* 1563-71, 1995.
- Haupt, Y., Rowan, S., Shaulian, E., Vousden, K.H. and Oren, M. Induction of apoptosis in HeLa cells by trans-activation-deficient p53. Genes Dev. 9: 2170-83, 1995.
- He, J., Allen, J.R., Collins, V.P., Allalunis-Turner, M.J., Godbout, R., Day, R.S.r. and James, C.D. CDK4 amplification is an alternative mechanism to p16 gene homozygous deletion in glioma cell lines. Cancer Res. *54:* 5804-7, 1994.
- Henson, J.W., Schnitker, B.L., Correa, K.M., von Deimling, A., Fassbender, F., Xu, H.J., Benedict, W.F., Yandell, D.W. and Louis, D.N. The retinoblastoma gene is involved in malignant progression of astrocytomas. Ann Neurol. *36:* 714-21, 1994.
- Hermeking, H. and Eick, D. Mediation of c-Myc-induced apoptosis by p53.
 Science. 265: 2091-3, 1994.

- Hollstein, M., Shomer, B., Greenblatt, M., Soussi, T., Hovig, E., Montesano, R. and Harris, C.C. Somatic point mutations in the p53 gene of human tumors and cell lines: updated compilation. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 141-6, 1996.
- Howard, A. and Pelc, S.R. Synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid in normal and irradiated cells and its relation to chromosome breakage. Heredity. 6: 261-273, 1953.
- 56. Hunter, T. and Pines, J. Cyclins and cancer. II: Cyclin D and CDK inhibitors come of age [see comments]. Cell. *79:* 573-82, 1994.
- Isaacs, J.S., Chiao, C., Merrick, B.A., Selkirk, J.K., Barrett, J.C. and Weissman, B.E. p53-dependent p21 induction following gamma-irradiation without concomitant p53 induction in a human peripheral neuroepithelioma cell line. Cancer Res. *57*: 2986-92, 1997.
- 58. Jin, P., Gu, Y. and Morgan, D.O. Role of inhibitory CDC2 phosphorylation in radiation-induced G2 arrest in human cells. J Cell Biol. *134*: 963-70, 1996.
- Jones, S.N., Roe, A.E., Donehower, L.A. and Bradley, A. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. Nature. *378*: 206-8, 1995.
- 60. Jorgensen, T.J. and Shiloh, Y. The ATM gene and the radiobiology of ataxiatelangiectasia. Int J Radiat Biol. *69:* 527-37, 1996.
- Jung, J.M., Bruner, J.M., Ruan, S., Langford, L.A., Kyritsis, A.P., Kobayashi, T., Levin, V.A. and Zhang, W. Increased levels of p21WAF1/Cip1 in human brain tumors. Oncogene. *11*: 2021-8, 1995.
- 62. Jung, M., Kondratyev, A., Lee, S.A., Dimtchev, A. and Dritschilo, A. ATM gene product phosphorylates I kappa B-alpha. Cancer Res. *57:* 24-7, 1997.
- Kastan, M.B., Onyekwere, O., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B. and Craig, R.W. Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. Cancer Res. 51: 6304-11, 1991.
- Kastan, M.B., Zhan, Q., el Deiry, W.S., Carrier, F., Jacks, T., Walsh, W.V., Plunkett, B.S., Vogelstein, B. and Fornace, A.J., Jr. A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxiatelangiectasia. Cell. *71:* 587-97, 1992.
- Kerr, J.F., Winterford, C.M. and Harmon, B.V. Apoptosis. Its significance in cancer and cancer therapy [published erratum appears in Cancer 1994 Jun 15;73(12):3108]. Cancer. 73: 2013-26, 1994.
- 66. Kleihues, P., Burger, P.C. and Scheithauer, B.W. Histological typing of tumours of the central nervous system., 2nd edition. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- Kleihues, P. and Cavanee, W.K. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the Nervous system, 1st edition. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1997.
- Kluck, R.M., Bossy Wetzel, E., Green, D.R. and Newmeyer, D.D. The release of cytochrome c from mitochondria: a primary site for Bcl-2 regulation of apoptosis [see comments]. Science. 275: 1132-6, 1997.
- Koopmann, J., Maintz, D., Schild, S., Schramm, J., Louis, D.N., Wiestler, O.D. and von Deimling, A. Multiple polymorphisms, but no mutations, in the WAF1/CIP1 gene in human brain tumours. Br J Cancer. 72: 1230-3, 1995.
- 70. Kouzarides, T. Functions of pRb and p53: what's the connection? TICB. *5:* 448-450, 1995.
- Krajewski, S., Tanaka, S., Takayama, S., Schibler, M.J., Fenton, W. and Reed, J.C. Investigation of the subcellular distribution of the bcl-2 oncoprotein: residence in the nuclear envelope, endoplasmic reticulum, and outer mitochondrial membranes. Cancer Res. *53:* 4701-14, 1993.
- Kulesz-Martin, M.F., Lisafeld, B., Huang, H., Kisiel, N.D. and Lee, L. Endogenous p53 protein generated from wild-type alternatively spliced p53 RNA in mouse epidermal cells. Mol Cell Biol. *14*: 1698-708, 1994.
- Lane, D.P. and Crawford, L.V. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. Nature. 278: 261-3, 1979.
- Larner, J.M., Lee, H. and Hamlin, J.L. Radiation effects on DNA synthesis in a defined chromosomal replicon. Mol Cell Biol. *14*: 1901-8, 1994.
- 75. Leenstra, S., Bijlsma, E.K., Troost, D., Oosting, J., Westerveld, A., Bosch, D.A. and Hulsebos, T.J. Allele loss on chromosomes 10 and 17p and epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification in human malignant astrocytoma related to prognosis. Br J Cancer. *70:* 684-9, 1994.
- 76. Li, J., Yen, C., Liaw, D., Podsypanina, K., Bose, S., Wang, S.I., Puc, J., Miliaresis, C., Rodgers, L., McCombie, R., Bigner, S.H., Giovanella, B.C., Ittmann, M., Tycko, B., Hibshoosh, H., Wigler, M.H. and Parsons, R. PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer [see comments]. Science. 275: 1943-7, 1997.

- 77. Li, P., Allen, H., Banerjee, S., Franklin, S., Herzog, L., Johnston, C., McDowell, J., Paskind, M., Rodman, L., Salfeld, J. and et al. Mice deficient in IL-1 beta-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 beta and resistant to endotoxic shock. Cell. 80: 401-11, 1995.
- Linzer, D.I. and Levine, A.J. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell. *17:* 43-52, 1979.
- Liu, W., James, C.D., Frederick, L., Alderete, B.E. and Jenkins, R.B.
 PTEN/MMAC1 mutations and EGFR amplification in glioblastomas. Cancer Res. 57: 5254-7, 1997.
- Louis, D.N. The p53 gene and protein in human brain tumors. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 53: 11-21, 1994.
- Lowe, S.W., Schmitt, E.M., Smith, S.W., Osborne, B.A. and Jacks, T. p53 is required for radiation-induced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes [see comments]. Nature. *362:* 847-9, 1993.
- Lu, X. and Lane, D.P. Differential induction of transcriptionally active p53 following UV or ionizing radiation: defects in chromosome instability syndromes? Cell. 75: 765-78, 1993.
- Martin, K., Trouche, D., Hagemeier, C., Sorensen, T.S., La Thangue, N.B. and Kouzarides, T. Stimulation of E2F1/DP1 transcriptional activity by MDM2 oncoprotein. Nature. *375:* 691-4, 1995.
- Martinez, J.D., Craven, M.T., Joseloff, E., Milczarek, G. and Bowden, G.T. Regulation of DNA binding and transactivation in p53 by nuclear localization and phosphorylation. Oncogene. *14*: 2511-20, 1997.
- 85. Matsumoto, R., Tada, M., Nozaki, M., Zhang, C.-L., Sawamura, Y. and Abe, H. Short alternative splice transcripts of the mdm2 oncogene correlate to malignancy in human astrocytic neoplasms. Cancer Res. 58: 609-613, 1998.
- Mayo, L.D., Turchi, J.J. and Berberich, S.J. Mdm-2 phosphorylation by DNAdependent protein kinase prevents interaction with p53. Cancer Res. *57:* 5013-6, 1997.
- McCurrach, M.E., Connor, T.M., Knudson, C.M., Korsmeyer, S.J. and Lowe,
 S.W. bax-deficiency promotes drug resistance and oncogenic transformation by

attenuating p53-dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94: 2345-9, 1997.

- McIlwrath, A., Vasey, P., Ross, G. and Brown, R. Cell cycle arrests and radiosensitivity of human tumour cell lines: dependence on wild-type p53 for radiosensitivity. Cancer Res. 54: 3718-3722, 1994.
- McKenna, W.G., Iliakis, G., Weiss, M.C., Bernhard, E.J. and Muschel, R.J. Increased G2 delay in radiation-resistant cells obtained by transformation of primary rat embryo cells with the oncogenes H-ras and v-myc. Radiat Res. *125*: 283-7, 1991.
- Metting, N.F. and Little, J.B. Transient failure to dephosphorylate the cdc2-cyclin B1 complex accompanies radiation-induced G2-phase arrest in HeLa cells. Radiat Res. 143: 286-92, 1995.
- Meyer-Puttlitz, B., Hayashi, Y., Waha, A., Rollbrocker, B., Bostrom, J., Wiestler, O.D., Louis, D.N., Reifenberger, G. and von Deimling, A. Molecular genetic analysis of giant cell glioblastomas. Am J Pathol. *151:* 853-7, 1997.
- Meyn, M.S. Ataxia-telangiectasia and cellular responses to DNA damage. Cancer Res. 55: 5991-6001, 1995.
- Minn, A.J., Velez, P., Schendel, S.L., Liang, H., Muchmore, S.W., Fesik, S.W., Fill, M. and Thompson, C.B. Bcl-x(L) forms an ion channel in synthetic lipid membranes. Nature. *385*: 353-7, 1997.
- 94. Miyashita, T. and Reed, J.C. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. Cell. *80:* 293-9, 1995.
- Momand, J. and Zambetti, G.P. Mdm-2: "big brother" of p53. J Cell Biochem. 64: 343-52, 1997.
- Morgenbesser, S.D., Williams, B.O., Jacks, T. and DePinho, R.A. p53-dependent apoptosis produced by Rb-deficiency in the developing mouse lens [see comments]. Nature. *371:* 72-4, 1994.
- Moscatello, D.K., Holgado Madruga, M., Godwin, A.K., Ramirez, G., Gunn, G., Zoltick, P.W., Biegel, J.A., Hayes, R.L. and Wong, A.J. Frequent expression of a mutant epidermal growth factor receptor in multiple human tumors. Cancer Res. 55: 5536-9, 1995.
- Motoyama, N., Wang, F., Roth, K.A., Sawa, H., Nakayama, K., Nakayama, K., Negishi, I., Senju, S., Zhang, Q., Fujii, S. and et al. Massive cell death of

immature hematopoietic cells and neurons in Bcl-x-deficient mice. Science. 267: 1506-10, 1995.

- 99. Nagata, S. Apoptosis by death factor. Cell. 88: 355-65, 1997.
- Oberosler, P., Hloch, P., Ramsperger, U. and Stahl, H. p53-catalyzed annealing of complementary single-stranded nucleic acids. Embo J. *12*: 2389-96, 1993.
- 101. O'Connor, P.M., Jackman, J., Bae, I., Myers, T.G., Fan, S., Mutoh, M., Scudiero, D.A., Monks, A., Sausville, E.A., Weinstein, J.N., Friend, S., Fornace, A.J.J. and Kohn, K.W. Characterization of the p53 tumour suppressor pathway in cell lines of the National Cancer Institute anticancer drug screen and correlations with the growth-inhibitory potency of 123 anticancer agents. Cancer Res. *57:* 4285-300, 1997.
- 102. Ohgaki, H., Schauble, B., zur Hausen, A., von Ammon, K. and Kleihues, P. Genetic alterations associated with the evolution and progression of astrocytic brain tumours. Virchows Arch. 427: 113-8, 1995.
- Oltvai, Z.N., Milliman, C.L. and Korsmeyer, S.J. bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell. 74: 609 - 619, 1993.
- 104. Pan, G., K, O.R., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Gentz, R., Ebner, R., Ni, J. and Dixit, V.M. The receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. Science. 276: 111-3, 1997.
- 105. Pan, G., Ni, J., Wei, Y.F., Yu, G., Gentz, R. and Dixit, V.M. An antagonist decoy receptor and a death domain-containing receptor for TRAIL [see comments]. Science. 277: 815-8, 1997.
- Paulovich, A.G., Toczyski, D.P. and Hartwell, L.H. When checkpoints fail. Cell. 88: 315-21, 1997.
- 107. Pavletich, N.P., Chambers, K.A. and Pabo, C.O. The DNA-binding domain of p53 contains the four conserved regions and the major mutation hot spots. Genes Dev. 7: 2556-64, 1993.
- Peng, C.Y., Graves, P.R., Thoma, R.S., Wu, Z., Shaw, A.S. and Piwnica-Worms, H. Mitotic and G2 checkpoint control: regulation of 14-3-3 protein binding by phosphorylation of Cdc25C on serine-216 [see comments]. Science. 277: 1501-5, 1997.

- 109. Perry, M.E., Piette, J., Zawadzki, J.A., Harvey, D. and Levine, A.J. The mdm-2 gene is induced in response to UV light in a p53-dependent manner. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 90: 11623-7, 1993.
- 110. Pietenpol, J.A., Tokino, T., Thiagalingam, S., el-Deiry, W.S., Kinzler, K.W. and Vogelstein, B. Sequence-specific transcriptional activation is essential for growth suppression by p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. *91*: 1998-2002, 1994.
- 111. Poluha, W., Poluha, D.K., Chang, B., Crosbie, N.E., Schonhoff, C.M. and Kilpatrick, D.L. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 (WAF1) is required for survival of differentiating neuroblastoma cells. Mol Cell Biol. *16*: 1335-1341, 1996.
- Pomerantz, J., Screiber-Agus, N., Liegeois, N.J., Silverman, A., Alland, L., Chin, L., Potes, J., Chen, K., Orlow, I., Lee, H.-W., Cordon-Cardo, C. and DePinho, R.A. The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19(ARF), interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell. *92*: 713-723, 1998.
- 113. Powell, S.N., DeFrank, J.S., Connell, P., Eogan, M., Preffer, F., Dombkowski, D., Tang, W. and Friend, S. Differential sensitivity of p53(-) and p53(+) cells to caffeine-induced radiosensitization and override of G2 delay. Cancer Res. 55: 1643-8, 1995.
- 114. Rampino, N., Yamamoto, H., Ionov, Y., Li, Y., Sawai, H., Reed, J.C. and Perucho, M. Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science. 275: 967-969, 1997.
- 115. Rasheed, B.K., McLendon, R.E., Herndon, J.E., Friedman, H.S., Friedman, A.H., Bigner, D.D. and Bigner, S.H. Alterations of the TP53 gene in human gliomas. Cancer Res. 54: 1324-30, 1994.
- 116. Reed, J.C. Cytochrome c: can't live with it--can't live without it [comment]. Cell.91: 559-62, 1997.
- 117. Reed, J.C. Double identity for proteins of the Bcl-2 family. Nature. 387: 773-6, 1997.
- 118. Reifenberger, J., Ring, G.U., Gies, U., Cobbers, J.M.J.L., Oberstrass, J., An, H.-X., Niederacher, D., Wechsler, W. and Reifenberger, G. Analysis of p53 mutation and epidermal growth factor receptor amplification in recurrent gliomas with malignant progression. J. Neuropath. Exp. Neurol. 55 (7): 822 - 831, 1996.

- Rosse, T., Olivier, R., Monney, L., Rager, M., Conus, S., Fellay, I., Jansen, B. and Borner, C. Bcl-2 prolongs cell survival after Bax-induced release of cytochrome c [see comments]. Nature. *391:* 496-9, 1998.
- Rotter, V., Witte, O.N., Coffman, R. and Baltimore, D. Abelson murine leukemia virus-induced tumors elicit antibodies against a host cell protein, P50. J Virol. *36:* 547-55, 1980.
- 121. Rubio, M.P., von Deimling, A., Yandell, D.W., Wiestler, O.D., Gusella, J.F. and Louis, D.N. Accumulation of wild type p53 protein in human astrocytomas. Cancer Res. 53: 3465-7, 1993.
- 122. Russo, T., Zambrano, N., Esposito, F., Ammendola, R., Cimino, F., Fiscella, M., Jackman, J., PM, O.C., Anderson, C.W. and Appella, E. A p53-independent pathway for activation of WAF1/CIP1 expression following oxidative stress. J Biol Chem. 270: 29386-91, 1995.
- Sakahira, H., Enari, M. and Nagata, S. Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis [see comments]. Nature. *391:* 96-9, 1998.
- 124. Sambrook, J., Frisch, E.F. and Maniatis, T. Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, 2nd edition. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1989.
- 125. Sanchez, Y., Wong, C., Thoma, R.S., Richman, R., Wu, Z., Piwnica-Worms, H. and Elledge, S.J. Conservation of the Chk1 checkpoint pathway in mammals: linkage of DNA damage to Cdk regulation through Cdc25 [see comments]. Science. 277: 1497-501, 1997.
- 126. Sattler, M., Liang, H., Nettesheim, D., Meadows, R.P., Harlan, J.E., Eberstadt, M., Yoon, H.S., Shuker, S.B., Chang, B.S., Minn, A.J., Thompson, C.B. and Fesik, S.W. Structure of Bcl-xL-Bak peptide complex: recognition between regulators of apoptosis. Science. 275: 983-6, 1997.
- 127. Schlegel, J., Merdes, A., Stumm, G., Albert, F.K., Forsting, M., Hynes, N. and Kiessling, M. Amplification of the epidermal-growth-factor-receptor gene correlates with different growth behaviour in human glioblastoma. Int J Cancer. 56: 72-7, 1994.

- 128. Schlegel, J., Scherthan, H., Arens, N., Stumm, G. and Kiessling, M. Detection of complex genetic alterations in human glioblastoma multiforme using comparative genomic hybridization. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 55: 81-7, 1996.
- 129. Schrock, E., Thiel, G., Lozanova, T., du Manoir, S., Meffert, M.C., Jauch, A., Speicher, M.R., Nurnberg, P., Vogel, S., Janisch, W. and et al. Comparative genomic hybridization of human malignant gliomas reveals multiple amplification sites and nonrandom chromosomal gains and losses. Am J Pathol. *144:* 1203-18, 1994.
- Shafman, T., Khanna, K.K., Kedar, P., Spring, K., Kozlov, S., Yen, T., Hobson, K., Gatei, M., Zhang, N., Watters, D., Egerton, M., Shiloh, Y., Kharbanda, S., Kufe, D. and Lavin, M.F. Interaction between ATM protein and c-Abl in response to DNA damage [see comments]. Nature. *387:* 520-3, 1997.
- 131. Sheridan, J.P., Marsters, S.A., Pitti, R.M., Gurney, A., Skubatch, M., Baldwin, D., Ramakrishnan, L., Gray, C.L., Baker, K., Wood, W.I., Goddard, A.D., Godowski, P. and Ashkenazi, A. Control of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by a family of signaling and decoy receptors [see comments]. Science. 277: 818-21, 1997.
- Sherr, C.J. G1 phase progression: cycling on cue [see comments]. Cell. 79: 551-5, 1994.
- 133. Shieh, S.Y., Ikeda, M., Taya, Y. and Prives, C. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell. 91: 325-34, 1997.
- Sidransky, D. and Hollstein, M. Clinical implications of the p53 gene. Annu Rev Med. 47: 285-301, 1996.
- 135. Sidransky, D., Mikkelsen, T., Schwechheimer, K., Rosenblum, M.L., Cavanee, W. and Vogelstein, B. Clonal expansion of p53 mutant cells is associated with brain tumour progression. Nature. *355:* 846-7, 1992.
- 136. Sigalas, I., Calvert, A.H., Anderson, J.J., Neal, D.E. and Lunec, J. Alternatively spliced mdm2 transcripts with loss of p53 binding domain sequences: transforming ability and frequent detection in human cancer. Nat Med. 2: 912-7, 1996.
- 137. Steck, P.A., Pershouse, M.A., Jasser, S.A., Yung, W.K., Lin, H., Ligon, A.H., Langford, L.A., Baumgard, M.L., Hattier, T., Davis, T., Frye, C., Hu, R., Swedlund, B., Teng, D.H. and Tavtigian, S.V. Identification of a candidate tumour

suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nat Genet. *15:* 356-62, 1997.

- 138. Stephens, L.C., Ang, K.K., Schultheiss, T.E., Milas, L. and Meyn, R.E. Apoptosis in irradiated murine tumors. Radiat Res. *127:* 308-16, 1991.
- 139. Strasser, A., Harris, A.W., Jacks, T. and Cory, S. DNA damage can induce apoptosis in proliferating lymphoid cells via p53-independent mechanisms inhibitable by Bcl-2 [see comments]. Cell. 79: 329-39, 1994.
- 140. Sure, U., Ruedi, D., Tachibana, O., Yonekawa, Y., Ohgaki, H., Kleihues, P. and Hegi, M.E. Determination of p53 mutations, EGFR overexpression, and loss of p16 expression in pediatric glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 56: 782-9, 1997.
- 141. Teng, D.H., Hu, R., Lin, H., Davis, T., Iliev, D., Frye, C., Swedlund, B., Hansen, K.L., Vinson, V.L., Gumpper, K.L., Ellis, L., El-Naggar, A., Frazier, M., Jasser, S., Langford, L.A., Lee, J., Mills, G.B., Pershouse, M.A., Pollack, R.E., Tornos, C., Troncoso, P., Yung, W.K., Fujii, G., Berson, A., Steck, P.A. and et al. MMAC1/PTEN mutations in primary tumor specimens and tumor cell lines. Cancer Res. *57*: 5221-5, 1997.
- 142. Ueki, K., Ono, Y., Henson, J.W., Efird, J.T., von Deimling, A. and Louis, D.N. CDKN2/p16 or RB alterations occur in the majority of glioblastomas and are inversely correlated. Cancer Res. 56: 150-3, 1996.
- 143. Unger, T., Mietz, J.A., Scheffner, M., Yee, C.L. and Howley, P.M. Functional domains of wild-type and mutant p53 proteins involved in transcriptional regulation, transdominant inhibition, and transformation suppression. Mol Cell Biol. *13*: 5186-94, 1993.
- 144. Vairapandi, M., Balliet, A.G., Fornace, A.J., Jr., Hoffman, B. and Liebermann, D.A. The differentiation primary response gne MyD118, related to GADD45, encodes for a nuclear protein which interacts with PCNA and p21 WAF1/CIP1. Oncogene. *12*: 2579-94, 1996.
- 145. Van Meir, E.G., Kikuchi, T., Tada, M., Li, H., Diserens, A.C., Wojcik, B.E., Huang, H.J., Friedmann, T., de Tribolet, N. and Cavenee, W.K. Analysis of the p53 gene and its expression in human glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res. 54: 649-52, 1994.

- VandenBerg, S.R. Current diagnostic concepts of astrocytic tumors. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. *51*: 644-57, 1992.
- 147. von Deimling, A., Louis, D.N., von Ammon, K., Petersen, I., Hoell, T., Chung, R.Y., Martuza, R.L., Schoenfeld, D.A., Yasargil, M.G., Wiestler, O.D. and et al. Association of epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification with loss of chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurosurg. 77: 295-301, 1992.
- 148. Waldman, T., Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K.W. and Vogelstein, B. Uncoupling of S phase and mitosis induced by anticancer agents in cells lacking p21 [see comments]. Nature. 381: 713-6, 1996.
- Wang, J. and Walsh, K. Resistance to apoptosis conferred by Cdk inhibitors during myocyte differentiation. Science. 273: 359-361, 1996.
- 150. Weinert, T. A DNA damage checkpoint meets the cell cycle engine. Science. 277: 1450-1451, 1997.
- 151. Winger, M.J., Macdonald, D.R. and Cairncross, J.G. Supratentorial anaplastic gliomas in adults. The prognostic importance of extent of resection and prior lowgrade glioma. J Neurosurg. 71: 487-93, 1989.
- 152. Wong, A.J., Bigner, S.H., Bigner, D.D., Kinzler, K.W., Hamilton, S.R. and Vogelstein, B. Increased expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in malignant gliomas is invariably associated with gene amplification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 84: 6899-903, 1987.
- 153. Wu, G.S., Burns, T.F., McDonald, E.R.r., Jiang, W., Meng, R., Krantz, I.D., Kao, G., Gan, D.D., Zhou, J.Y., Muschel, R., Hamilton, S.R., Spinner, N.B., Markowitz, S., Wu, G. and el-Deiry, W.S. KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene [letter]. Nat Genet. *17:* 141-3, 1997.
- 154. Wu, X. and Levine, A.J. p53 and E2f-1 cooperate to mediate apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. *91:* 3602-6, 1994.
- Wyllie, A.H., Kerr, J.F. and Currie, A.R. Cell death: the significance of apoptosis. Int Rev Cytol. 68: 251-306, 1980.
- 156. Wyllie, F.S., Haughton, M.F., Bond, J.A., Rowson, J.M., Jones, C.J. and Wynford Thomas, D. S phase cell-cycle arrest following DNA damage is independent of the p53/p21(WAF1) signalling pathway. Oncogene. *12:* 1077-82, 1996.

- 157. Xiao, Z.X., Chen, J., Levine, A.J., Modjtahedi, N., Xing, J., Sellers, W.R. and Livingston, D.M. Interaction between the retinoblastoma protein and the oncoprotein MDM2. Nature. 375: 694-8, 1995.
- 158. Yang, J., Liu, X., Bhalla, K., Kim, C.N., Ibrado, A.M., Cai, J., Peng, T.I., Jones, D.P. and Wang, X. Prevention of apoptosis by Bcl-2: release of cytochrome c from mitochondria blocked [see comments]. Science. 275: 1129-32, 1997.
- 159. Yao, S.-L., Akhtar, A.J., McKenna, K.A., Bedi, G.C., Sidransky, D., Mabry, M., Ravi, R., Collector, M.I., Jones, R.J., Sharkis, S.J., Fuchs, E.J. and Bedi, A. Selective radiosenstization of p53-deficient cells by caffeine-mediated activation of p34(cdc2) kinase. Nature Medicine. 2 (10): 1140 - 1146, 1996.
- 160. Yin, C., Knudson, C.M., Korsmeyer, S.J. and Van Dyke, T. Bax suppresses tumorigenesis and stimulates apoptosis in vivo. Nature. *385:* 637-40, 1997.
- 161. Yonish-Rouach, E., Grunwald, D., Wilder, S., Kimchi, A., May, E., Lawrence, J.J., May, P. and Oren, M. p53-mediated cell death: relationship to cell cycle control. Mol Cell Biol. *13*: 1415-23, 1993.
- 162. Yount, G., Haas-Kogan, D., Vidair, C., Haas, M., Dewey, W. and Israel, M. Cell cycle synchrony unmasks the influence of p53 function on radiosensitivity of human glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res. 56: 500-506, 1996.
- Yuan, Z.M., Huang, Y., Whang, Y., Sawyers, C., Weichselbaum, R., Kharbanda, S. and Kufe, D. Role for c-Abl tyrosine kinase in growth arrest response to DNA damage. Nature. *382*: 272-4, 1996.
- 164. Zha, J., Harada, H., Yang, E., Jockel, J. and Korsmeyer, S.J. Serine phosphorylation of death agonist BAD in response to survival factor results in binding to 14-3-3 not BCL-X(L) [see comments]. Cell. 87: 619-28, 1996.
- 165. Zhang, Y., Xiong, Y. and Yarbrough, W.G. ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. Cell. 92: 725-734, 1998.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to give special thanks to my parents for their unerring support and guidance, and to my husband for his care, humour and giving me the very best reason to discover a new academic home.

I owe a deep debt of gratitude to my mentor, Herr Dr. Jürgen Schlegel, for all his intellectual and practical help, be it in brainstorming the project's concept into being, advising from his wealth of technical expertise or introducing me into Academia here in Germany. I value the care and thought he has taken to ensure my professional development. I would particularly like to thank Frau Dr. Gabi Stumm and Herr Dr. Jürgen Schlegel for their friendship and encouragement, which has been so important to my happy integration here in Marburg.

Special thanks also go to Frau Ginette Bortolussi, Frau Frauke Neff and Herr Guido Piontek in the Neuropathology Research Group for their technical help and guidance. For the provision of primary cell cultures and cell lines, I would like to thank Frau Kristin Münkel and Frau Dr. B. Eifert, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Heidelberg, and Herr Dr. E. van Meir, Laboratory of Tumor Biology and Genetics, University of Lausanne, Switzerland.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Frau Professor Dr. R Engenhart-Cabillic and Herr Dr. Marcus Gross in the Department of Radiotherapy, University of Marburg, without whose generous support this project would not have been possible. In particular I would like to thank Herr Dr. Marcus Gross for conducting the irradiation experiments.

My deep gratitude goes to Frau Professor Dr. R. Knüchel-Clarke, Department of Pathology, University of Regensburg, for so kindly performing the flow cytometry measurements and her help in their accurate interpretation.

I gratefully acknowledge the Wilhelm Sander-Stiftung, München, whose support funded this project.

Finally, I would like to pay special thanks to Herr Professor Dr. H.D. Mennel for allowing me the privilege of working in his Department and benefiting from his wise instruction.